

Virginia Commonwealth University VCU Scholars Compass

Theses and Dissertations

Graduate School

2012

CROSSTALK BETWEEN LYSOPHOSPATIDIC ACID (LPA) AND TRANSFORMING GROWTH FACTOR BETA (TGF β) IN BREAST AND OVARIAN CANCER CELLS

Jinhua Wu Virginia Commonwealth University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarscompass.vcu.edu/etd Part of the Biochemistry, Biophysics, and Structural Biology Commons

© The Author

Downloaded from

https://scholarscompass.vcu.edu/etd/308

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Graduate School at VCU Scholars Compass. It has been accepted for inclusion in Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of VCU Scholars Compass. For more information, please contact libcompass@vcu.edu.

School of Medicine

Virginia Commonwealth University

This is to certify that the dissertation prepared by **Jinhua Wu** entitled CROSSTALK BETWEEN LYSOPHOSPHATIDIC ACD AND TRANSFORMING GROWTH FACTOR BETA IN BREAST AND OVARIAN CANCER CELLS

has been approved by her committee as satisfactory completion of the dissertation requirement for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Xianjun Fang, PhD, Director of Dissertation, School of Medicine

Suzanne Barbour, PhD, Committee Member, School of Medicine

Joyce Lloyd, PhD, Committee Member, School of Medicine

Robert Diegelmann, PhD, Committee Member, School of Medicine

Yan Zhang, PhD, Committee Member, School of Medicine

Sarah Spiegel, PhD, Chair, Department of Biochemistry and Molecular Biology

Jerome F. Strauss, III, M.D. PhD, Dean, School of Medicine

Dr. F. Douglas Boudinot, Dean of the School of Graduate Studies April 17th 2012 © Jinhua Wu

2012

All Rights Reserved

CROSSTALK BETWEEN LYSOPHOSPATIDIC ACID (LPA) AND TRANSFORMING GROWTH FACTOR BETA (TGFβ) IN BREAST AND OVARIAN CANCER CELLS

A dissertation submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy at Virginia Commonwealth University.

by

JINHUA WU Bachelor of Engineering, Huazhong University of Science and Technology, Wuhan, Hubei, China, 2006

Director: XIANJUN FANG ASSOCIATE PROFESSOR, BIOCHEMISTRY AND MOLECULAR BIOLOGY

Virginia Commonwealth University Richmond, Virginia April, 2009

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First and foremost I would like to thank my advisor Dr. Xianjun Fang. I appreciate all his contributions of time, ideas, and funding to make my Ph.D. experience productive and stimulating. I am thankful for all the encouragements on a day with bad data. Dr. Fang taught me extensively when I needed to be taught; and let me make mistakes as I explored science with an independent mind.

I would like to acknowledge my committee members: Drs. Suzanne Barbour, Joyce Lloyd, Bob Diegelmann and Yan Zhang. Your criticisms were insightful; your suggestions were helpful; your understanding helped me to get through tough moments.

The Fang lab members, especially Drs. Pei-lun Lee, Regina Oyesanya, and soonto-be Dr. Abir Mukherjee, have provided tremendous help in my lab life. Pei-lun was my lab basic biotechnology 101 course director, and solved all the technical problems/mistakes I created like a dream. Regina sets up a great example as an efficient and dedicated graduate student. As for Abir, I appreciate all the constructive suggestions and intensive data discussions, as well as the yelling whenever I came up with the idea of quitting grad school.

Last but not least, I would like to thank my family and friends. My parents gave me all the love, support and encouragements that helped me to face the hard times. I am grateful for everything they did for me. Also I am very thankful to my best friend Limin Gong, who is still fighting for her own PhD, for answering my calls 1 am at night when I was walking back from lab to parking lot, saying good luck to me before every presentation, and being the best big sister all these years.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	ii
LIST OF TABLES	vi
LIST OF FIGURES	vii
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	ix
ABSTRACT	xii
CHAPTER 1	
1.0 Overview	
1.1 LPA	
1.1.1 Metabolism of LPA	
1.1.2 LPA receptors and signal transduction	
1.1.3 LPA and cell proliferation	
1.1.4 LPA and cell motility	
1.2 TGFβ	
1.2.1 TGF β production and activation	
1.2.2 TGFβ signaling	
1.2.3 Complexity and regulation of the TGFβ-Smad pathway	
1.2.4 Cytostatic response genes of TGFβ	
1.3 Crosstalk between LPA and TGFβ	
CHAPTER 2	
2.0 Abstract	
2.1 Introduction	
2.2 Materials and Methods	
2.3 Results	

2.3.1 Induction of p21 by LPA in TGF β -sensitive breast and ovarian cancer cells	29
2.3.2 Correlation of LPA and TGF β induction of p21	32
2.3.3 Input of LPA signaling in TGFβ-induced p21 expression	34
2.3.4 Role of p21 in mediating the cytostatic response to TGFβ	36
2.3.5 p21-dependent inhibition of LPA-driven cell proliferation by TGF β	39
2.3.6 Mechanisms for LPA induction of p21	42
2.4 Discussion	46
CHAPTER 3	50
3.0 Abstract	50
3.1 Introduction	51
3.2 Materials and Methods	53
3.3 Results	59
3.3.1 TGFβ inhibits expression of LPA ₁	59
3.3.2 TGFβ attenuates LPA ₁ -dependent cell migration and invasion	62
3.3.3 TGF β represses LPA ₁ expression and LPA ₁ -dependent cell migration and invasion in a Smad-dependent manner	68
3.3.4 LPA ₁ gene promoter analysis to verify the potential mechanisms for TGF β repressive effect	71
3.3.4 TGF β represses the transcriptional activity of the LPA ₁ gene promoter which contains two potential TIEs	י 72
3.3.5 Smad complex binds to the -401 TIE of the LPA ₁ promoter	75
3.4 Discussion	78
CHAPTER 4	82
REFERENCE	91
VITA 1	17

LIST OF TABLES

Table 3.1. Primers used in ChIP as	says58
------------------------------------	--------

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1. A representative phylogenetic tree of human GPCRs
Figure 1.2. LPA receptors and G protein signaling cascades10
Figure 1.3. The TGFβ cytostatic programs in epithelial cells20
Figure 2.1. LPA-induction of p21 in TGFβ-sensitive breast and ovarian cancer cells30
Figure 2.2. Correlation between LPA-mediated p21 induction and sensitivity to $TGF\beta$
mediated cytostasis
Figure 2.3. p21 inductions were only found in TGFβ sensitive cells
Figure 2.4. Induction of TGFβ target gene PAI-1 in resistant cells
Figure 2.5. Input of LPA action in TGFβ-mediated p21 induction
Figure 2.6. Essential role of p21 in the cytostatic response to $TGF\beta$
Figure 2.7. TPA treatment does not increase cell apoptosis
Figure 2.8. p21-dependent inhibition of LPA-induced cell proliferation by TGFβ41
Figure 2.9. LPA ₁ and LPA ₂ are responsible for LPA stimulation of p2143
Figure 2.10. Induction of p21 by LPA through the LPA ₁ /LPA ₂ -Erk-C/EBP β pathway45
Figure 2.11. Working model
Figure 3.1. TGFβ inhibits expression of LPA ₁ mRNA60
Figure 3.2. TGF β inhibits expression of LPA ₁ mRNA in all cancer cells with intact TGF β
pathway61
Figure 3.3. TGFβ attenuates LPA ₁ -dependent cell migration and invasion63

Figure 3.4. Important role of LPA ₁ in mediating LPA induced cell migration65
Figure 3.5. TGF ^β pre-treatment attenuates LPA ₁ -dependent cell migration and invasion
Figure 3.6. TGF β represses LPA ₁ in a Smad3-dependent manner69
Figure 3.7. Knockdown of Smad3 abolished the inhibitory effect of TGF β in LPA-
induced cell motility70
Figure 3.8. Knockdown of Smad4 abolished the inhibitory effect of TGF β in LPA-
induced cell motility71
Figure 3.9. TGF β represses the transcriptional activity of the LPA ₁ gene promoter
containing TIEs74
Figure 3.10. TGF β induces occupancy of the Smad complex to the LPA ₁ gene promoter
Figure 3.11. TGF β induces occupancy of the Smad complex to the LPA ₁ gene promoter

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

AGK	Acylglycerol kinase
AP2	Activator protein 2
ATF3	Activating transcription factor 3
ATX	Autotaxin
BMP	Bone morphogenetic protein
BSA	Bovine serum albumin
C/EBPβ	CCAAT enhancer binding protein β
cAMP	cyclic adenosine monophosphate
CDK	Cyclin-dependent kinase
cDNA	Complementary DNA
ChIP	Chromatin immunoprecipitation
c-Myc	myelocytomatosis oncogene
CTGF	Connective tissue growth factor
DAG	Diacylglycerol
DMEM	Dulbecco modified Eagle medium
ECM	Extracellular matrix
Edg	Endothelial differentiation gene
EGF	Epidermal growth factor
EMT	Epithelial to mesenchymal transition
Erk	Extracellular signal-regulated kinases
FBS	Fetal bovine serum
FGFR4	Fibroblast growth factor receptor 4
FOX	Forkhead box

GPCR	G protein coupled receptor
HDAC	Histone deacetylases
Id1	Inhibitor of differentiation 1
Id2	Inhibitor of differentiation 2
IFN-γ	Interferon γ
IP3	Inositol triphosphate
I-Smad	Inhibitory Smad
LAP	TGF β latency associated peptide
LIP	C/EBPβ liver inhibitory protein
LLC	Large latent complex
LPA	Lysophosphatidic acid
LPAAT	LPA acyl transferase
LPC	Lysophosphatidylcholine
LPE	Lysophosphatidylethanolamine
LPP	Lipid phosphate phosphatase
LPS	Lysophosphatidylserine
LTBP	Latent TGF _β -binding protein
LysoPLD	Lysophospholipase D
MAG	Monoacylglycerol
МАРК	Mitogen activated protein kinase
MEF	Mouse embryonic fibroblast
MLC	Myosin light chain
MMP	Matrix metalloprotinase
NOE	Normal ovarian epithelium
PA	Phosphatidic acid
PAI-1	Plasminogen activator inhibitor-1
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
РІЗК	Phosphatidylinositol 3 kinase

PIP2	Phosphatidylinositol 4,5-bisphosphate
РКС	Protein kinase C
PLA ₁	Phospholipase A1
PLC	Phospholipase C
PP1	Protein phosphatase-1
ΡΡΑRγ	Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor γ
qPCR	quantitative PCR
ROCK	Rho-associated protein kinase
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
R-Smad	Receptor-regulated Smad
S1P	Sphingosine 1 phosphate
SBE	Smad binding element
shRNA	Short hairpin RNA
siRNA	Small interfering RNA
SnoN	Ski-related novel protein N
sPLA2	secretory phospholipase A2
STAT1	Signaling transducers of activators of transcription 1
TAM	Tumor associated macrophage
TGFβ	Transforming growth factor β
TIE	TGFβ inhibitory element
TPA	12-O-tetradecanoylphorbol-13-acetate
TSP-1	Thrombospondin-1
ΤβR	TGFβ receptor
uPA	urokinase-type plasminogen activator
VEGF	Vascular endothelial growth factor

ABSTRACT

CROSSTALK BETWEEN LYSOPHOSPATIDIC ACID (LPA) AND TRANSFORMING GROWTH FACTOR BETA (TGF β) IN BREAST AND OVARIAN CANCER CELLS

By Jinhua Wu, PhD

A dissertation submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy at Virginia Commonwealth University.

Virginia Commonwealth University School of Medicine, 2012

Major Director: Xianjun Fang

Associate Professor, Biochemistry and Molecular Biology

ABSTRACT

Lysophosphatidic acid (LPA) and transforming growth factor beta (TGF β) are platelet-derived intercellular mediators of cell proliferation and motility. LPA is a general growth, survival and motility-stimulating factor in mammalian cells. TGF^β prevents proliferation of normal epithelial cells. However, the growth-inhibitory effect of TGF β is lost or reduced in most malignant cells. Instead, TGF^β promotes migration and invasion of advanced cancer cells. Since LPA and TGF^β are both present in the blood and tumor microenvironments, we were interested in signal integration and functional outcomes in malignant epithelial cells in an LPA and TGF^β co-stimulatory context. In a subset of breast and ovarian cancer cell lines which remain sensitive to the cytostatic effect of TGF β , we found that LPA up-regulated expression of the cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor $p21^{Waf1}$. But this up-regulation was not observed in TGF β -resistant ones. We examined the possibility that LPA-induced p21 might contribute to the cytostatic response to TGF β . Indeed, TGF β alone induced p21 expression weakly in TGF β sensitive cells. Serum or serum-borne LPA cooperated with TGF^β to elicit the maximal p21 induction. LPA stimulated p21 via LPA1 and LPA2 receptors and Erk-dependent activation of the CCAAT/enhancer-binding protein beta (C/EBPB) transcription factor independent of p53. Loss or gain of p21 expression led to a shift between TGF β sensitive and resistant phenotypes in breast and ovarian cancer cells, indicating that LPA-induced p21 is a key determinant of the growth inhibitory activity of TGF β . The p21-stimulatory action of LPA is absent from most breast and ovarian cancer cells, leading to their resistance to TGF β . Therefore we reveal a novel crosstalk between LPA and TGF β that underlies TGF β sensitive and resistant phenotypes of breast and ovarian cancer cells.

In the next part of our study, we examined the role of interactions between LPA and TGF β in regulation of tumor cell motility. LPA and, to a much less extent, TGF β stimulate chemotactic migration and invasion of breast and ovarian cancer cells. However, when combined together with LPA, TGF β strongly attenuated LPA-driven migration and invasion of breast and ovarian cancer cells. This inhibitory effect was most likely mediated through TGF β downregulation of expression of LPA₁, the major receptor subtype responsible for LPA-regulated cell migration. Knockdown of Smad3 or Smad4 with small hairpin RNA (shRNA) eliminated the inhibitory effects of TGF β on the LPA₁ expression and LPA-dependent cell migration. There are two potential TGF β inhibitory elements (TIE) (-40 bp and -401 bp) present in the human LPA_1 gene promoter. Deletion or point mutation of the distal TIE at around -401 bp abolished the inhibitory effect of TGF β on the LPA₁ promoter activity as revealed by luciferase assays. A DNA pull-down assay showed that the -401-TIE-E2F4/5 sequence was capable of binding Samd3, Smad4, and E2F4/5 in TGF β -treated cells. The binding of the Smad complex to the native TIE-E2F4/5 sequences of the LPA_{I} gene promoter was further verified by chromatin immunoprecipitation assay. Our results identify a novel role of TGF β in the control of LPA₁ expression and LPA₁-coupled biological activities, adding LPA_1 to the list of TGF β -repressed target genes.

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

1.0 Overview

Breast cancer and ovarian cancer are leading causes of cancer-related death in women. An estimate of 288,130 new cases of breast cancer and 22,280 new cases of ovarian cancer are expected in the United States during 2012. Most breast cancers are derived from the epithelial cells that line the terminal ducts or lobules (Sainsbury et al 1994). Breast cancer stages are expressed as a number on a scale of 0 through IV (Stage 0 describing non-invasive cancers that remain within the original location and stage IV describing invasive cancers that have spread beyond the breast and near lymph nodes to other organs of the body, such as the lungs, distant lymph nodes, skin, bones, liver or brain). Pleural effusions may occur at any point of the clinical course of breast tumor progression and may be the sole manifestation of metastatic disease (Dieterich et al 1994). Approximately 10-20% breast cancers are triple-negative, the breast tumor type tested negative for estrogen receptors (ER⁻), progesterone receptor (PR⁻) and HER2 (HER2⁻). Therefore, the triple-negative breast cancer does not respond to hormonal therapy or target therapy against the HER2 receptor. The most common type of ovarian cancer is

ovarian epithelial carcinoma. Ovarian cancer is classified into four stages (Stages I-IV). At the advanced stages III and IV, it is often characterized by extensive intra-peritoneal distribution of tumors and formation of large volumes of ascites.

Malignant pleural effusions of breast cancer and ascites of ovarian cancer represent tumor microenvironments enriched with a broad spectrum of intercellular mediators including lysophosphatidic acid (LPA) (Mills et al 1990, Moolenaar et al 1992, Xu et al 1995a) and transforming growth factor beta (TGF β) (Hirte and Clark 1991). Both LPA and TGF β are elevated in ovarian cancer ascites compared to non-malignant fluids (Ikubo et al 1995, Xu et al 1995b, Xu et al 1998). Previous studies of these coexisting factors have been restricted to analysis of the biological activities of individual ones without consideration of their simultaneous effects (Massague 2008, Mills and Moolenaar 2003). The results from these prior studies may not reflect their physiological roles in vivo. In the present study, we explored the potential crosstalk between LPA and TGF β signaling in breast and ovarian carcinoma cells. Our results establish that such crosstalk indeed exists and operates to determine ultimate proliferative and migratory responses of breast and ovarian cancer cells.

1.1 LPA

1.1.1 Metabolism of LPA

LPA (1-acyl-2-hydroxy-sn-glycero-3-phosphate) is the simplest natural phospholipid. LPA can be produced by multiple cell types, including activated platelet

(Eichholtz et al 1993), endothelial cells (Siess et al 1999), fibroblasts (van der Bend et al 1992), adipocytes (Valet et al 1998), and cancer cells (Bektas et al 2005, Fang et al 2000a). LPA is present in body fluids including plasma, saliva, hair follicles and malignant effusions (Aoki et al 2008, Sugiura et al 2002) and accounts for many biological properties of serum. In addition to 1-acyl LPA, other LPA species such as cyclic LPA, 1-alkyl and 1-alkenly-LPA are also found in serum and ovarian cancer patient ascites (Kobayashi et al 1999, Xiao et al 2001).

Two main pathways are involved in endogenous generation of LPA from other phospholipids (Aoki et al 2002, Aoki 2004). Activated platelet, which is responsible for a major part of LPA production in vivo, generates LPA by sequential actions of phospholipases present in plasma or expressed by blood cells. Two phospholipases, secretory phospholipase A2 (sPLA₂) and phospholipase A1 (PLA₁) are involved in the production of lysophospholipids such as lysophosphatidylcholine (LPC). lysophosphatidylethanolamine (LPE), and lysophosphatidylserine (LPS). These lysophospholipids are converted to LPA by action of lysophospholipase D (lysoPLD) (Aoki et al 2002). The lysoPLD responsible for LPA production has been identified as autotaxin (ATX) (Umezu-Goto et al 2002), a previously enigmatic ecto-enzyme involved in tumor invasion, neovascularization and metastasis (Nam et al 2000, Ptaszynska et al 2008, Yang et al 2002). With its intrinsic lysoPLD activity, ATX can hydrolyze LPC, a major phospholipid secreted by hepatocytes and therefore abundant in the blood, into LPA. The recently reported crystal structure of ATX suggests that the binding of ATX to integrins localizes LPA production to platelets and mammalian cells (Fulkerson et al 2011). Another potential pathway of LPA production independent of PLA and ATX is direct phosphorylation of monoacylglycerol (MAG) by acylglycerol kinase (AGK) (Bektas et al 2005). Overexpression of AGK is associated with increased production and secretion of LPA (Bektas et al 2005).

The lipid phosphate phosphotases (LPPs) are a family of enzymes that remove the phosphate group from LPA and convert LPA to MAG (Pilquil et al 2001, Tomsig et al 2009, Xu et al 2000). These LPPs are membrane-associated with extracellularly facing catalytic site for dephosphorylating LPA on the cell membrane. Expression of LPPs reduced endogenous LPA levels and attenuated LPA-mediated cellular functions (Tomsig et al 2009). Other than dephosphorylation, LPA can also be converted to phosphatidic acid (PA) by acylation through the action of LPA acyl transferases (LPAAT) (Eberhardt et al 1997, Leung 2001).

1.1.2 LPA receptors and signal transduction

LPA is a mediator of diverse biological processes including neurogenesis, angiogenesis, wound healing, immunity, and carcinogenesis (Panupinthu et al 2010). These biological functions of LPA are mediated through binding of LPA to its seven-transmembrane G-protein coupled receptors (GPCRs). To date, six GPCRs have been identified as physiological LPA receptors. Based on their amino acid homology, the LPA receptors are classified into two different groups: LPA₁/Edg2, LPA₂/Edg4 and LPA₃/Edg7 share more than 50% amino acid identity and belong to the endothelial differentiation gene (Edg) family, whereas GPR23/P2Y9/LPA₄ of the purinergic receptor

family and the related GPR92/LPA₅, and P2Y5/LPA₆ and GPR87/LPA7 are non-Edg LPA receptors or novel subgroup of LPA receptors (Choi et al 2010) (Figure 1.1).



LPA₁ is the first high-affinity receptor identified for LPA (Hecht et al 1996). It is widely expressed in embryonic cells and adult tissues including brain, uterus, testis, lung, small intestine, heart, stomach, kidney, spleen, thymus, placenta, and skeletal muscle (An et al 1998, Contos et al 2000b). LPA₁ is expressed in neoplastic cells as well. However, gene expression profiling studies failed to show any consensus increase in LPA₁ expression between normal and malignant cells (Hendrix et al 2006, Radvanyi et al 2005, Sanchez-Carbayo et al 2006, Skrzypczak et al 2010, Su et al 2007). Instead, some expression profiling or array analyses suggest decreases in LPA₁ mRNA expression in various malignancies (Hendrix et al 2006, Sanchez-Carbayo et al 2006, Shida et al 2004b, Skrzypczak et al 2010, Su et al 2007).

Only minor abnormalities such as craniofacial dysmorphism and defective sucking behavior were found in LPA_I -deficient mice (Contos et al 2000a). However, further analysis of these LPA_I knockout mice subjected to pathophysiological conditions has revealed that LPA₁ is required for the initiation of neuropathic pain (Inoue et al 2004) and promotion of pulmonary and renal fibrosis (Pradere et al 2007, Tager et al 2008). More recent studies suggested the importance of LPA₁ in neurogenesis (Matas-Rico et al 2008), hippocampus synaptic function (Musazzi et al 2011), and bone development (Gennero et al 2011).

LPA₂ was identified from GenBank searches of orphan GPCRs. It exhibits about 60% amino acid similarity to LPA₁ (Contos and Chun 2000). The expression of LPA₂ is relatively restricted. High expression of LPA₂ is detected in testis and leukocytes, and moderate expression is found in prostate, spleen, thymus, and pancreas (An et al 1998). Our group is the first to report overexpression of LPA₂ in early and late stages of ovarian cancer (Fang et al 2000a, Fang et al 2002). In breast cancer, LPA₂ overexpression is observed in more than half (57%) of the most common invasive ductal carcinoma (Kitayama et al 2004). LPA₂ is also commonly overexpressed in gastric cancer

(Yamashita et al 2006), differentiated thyroid cancer (Schulte et al 2001) and other human malignancies (Schulte et al 2001). Mice lacking LPA₂ do not show any significant abnormalities in physiology (Contos et al 2002). However, compared to wild type mice, LPA₂-deficient mice are more resistant to intestinal tumor formation induced by colitis or by ApcMin mutation (Lin et al 2009, Lin et al 2010). These studies together are consistent with an oncogenic role for LPA₂.

LPA₃ was isolated as an orphan GPCR gene using degenerate PCR-based cloning and homology searches (Bandoh et al 1999, Im et al 2000). Expression of LPA₃ is observed in heart, testis, prostate, pancreas, lung, ovary, and brain (Bandoh et al 1999, Im et al 2000). LPA₃ is overexpressed in about 45% of ovarian cancers (Fang et al 2002) but not as commonly overexpressed as LPA₂ in many other types of cancer. Homozygous deletion of *LPA₃* leads to identification of a specific function of this LPA receptor in female reproduction. LPA₃ deficient female mice show a delayed implantation and defective embryo spacing, associated with reduced uterine expression of Cox-2 mRNA (Ye et al 2005).

LPA₄ is the first non-Edg LPA receptor identified through ligand screening (Noguchi et al 2003). Its mRNA is expressed in various human tissues with the highest abundance in the ovary (Noguchi et al 2003). Interestingly, LPA₄ expression is undetectable or generally low in most tumor cell lines. Our lab generated LPA_4 knockout mice. LPA₄ null mice did not show apparent abnormalities compared to the wild type littermates. However, LPA₄ seems to negatively regulate cell motility in that LPA₄-

deficient mouse embryo fibroblasts (MEFs) are more sensitive to LPA-induced migration (Lee et al 2008). Similarly, overexpression of LPA₄ suppresses LPA₁-mediated cell migration in cancer cell lines (Lee et al 2008).

More recently, the orphan GPR92 was identified as another non-Edg LPA receptor, LPA₅. It shares about 35% amino acid homology with LPA₄ (Lee et al 2006). LPA₅ is broadly expressed in murine tissues such as embryonic brain, small intestine, skin, spleen, stomach, thymus, lung, heart, liver and embryonic stem cells (Kotarsky et al 2006, Lee et al 2006). Antagonists study of LPA₅ suggests its role in activation of platelets (Williams et al 2009).

P2Y5/LPA₆ mRNA is expressed in spleen, thymus, leukocyte, prostate, ovary, testis, small intestine, and colon (Pasternack et al 2008). LPA₆ is found to be mutated in hypotrichosis simplex and required for maintenance of human hair growth (Pasternack et al 2008). The LPA₆ knockout mice have not been reported but would be expected to phenocopy the major function of the human receptor in regulating hair growth.

GPR87/LPA₇ is expressed at low levels in most tissues with the exception of prostate, placenta, head and neck. An interesting observation with GPR87 is its overexpression specifically in squamous cell carcinomas of the lung, cervix, skin, urinary bladder, testis, head and neck (Tabata et al 2007). Other orphan GPCRs such as P2Y10 (Murakami et al 2008) and GPR35 (Oka et al 2010) have been also proposed to be additional LPA receptors. However, their identities as bona fide receptors for LPA are yet to be validated through independent studies.

Like other GPCRs, LPA receptor subtypes appear to couple to multiple heterotrimeric G proteins that in turn, activate diverse pathways including stimulation of phospholipase C and D, small GTPases, mitogen-activated protein kinases (MAPK), and phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3K) (Bandoh et al 1999, Contos et al 2002, Fukushima et al 2002, Im et al 2000, Lee et al 2006, Mills and Moolenaar 2003). Activation of these diverse G protein signaling cascades downstream of LPA receptors culminates in cytoskeleton remodeling, cell proliferation, survival and migration (Mills and Moolenaar 2003). As depicted in Fig. 1. 2, a major difference in G protein coupling between the Edg LPA₁₋₃ receptors and the novel non-Edg LPA₄₋₆ receptors is that LPA₁₋₃ couple to Gi but not Gs while LPA₄₋₆ couple to Gs instead of Gi. Gs is linked to activation of adenylyl cyclase (AC) and intracellular cAMP. In contrast, Gi inhibits adenylyl AC and decreased cAMP and activates the Ras/MAPK cascade and the PI3K-Akt pathway through subunit released from Gi (Anliker and Chun 2004, Radeff-Huang et al 2004, Van Leeuwen et al 2003). Gq is linked to activation of phospholipase C (PLC), which, in turn, catalyzes hydrolysis of phosphatidylinositol biphosphate (PIP2) to diacylglycerol (DAG) to activate protein kinase C (PKC) and inositol trisphosphate (IP3) to trigger intracellular calcium mobilization (Fukushima and Chun 2001). Activation of G12/13, which directly binds to the Rho-specific guanine nucleotide exchange factor p115RhoGEF, leads to activation of the Rho-ROCK pathway (Kranenburg et al 1999, Ren et al 1999) that regulates actomyosin-driven cytoskeleton contraction and cell shape changes (Bar-Sagi and Hall 2000).



1.1.3 LPA and cell proliferation

The role of LPA as a growth factor was initially shown in fibroblasts. The mitogenic activity of LPA has now been demonstrated in several cell lineages including normal and transformed epithelial cells, endothelial cells, smooth muscle cells, astrocytes, and renal mesangial cells (Radeff-Huang et al 2004, Van Leeuwen et al 2003). The mitogenic activity of LPA is sensitive to pertussis toxin (Fang et al 2000b, Van Corven et al 1989, van Corven et al 1992), implicating a Gi-dependent mechanism in LPA-mediated cell proliferation. The Gi-induced inhibition of intracellular cAMP may be a partial but not the sole stimulus of LPA-induced cell proliferation (Van Corven et al 1989). Similar to the mitogenesis driven by peptide growth factors, the Ras/ERK and

PI3K/Akt pathways are essential for LPA-induced cell growth (Cook and McCormick 1996, Fang et al 2000b, Kranenburg and Moolenaar 2001). Active Erk translocates to the nucleus to activate expression of proliferation-associated genes. The dependence on PI3K of LPA-induced cell proliferation may relate to the prominent anti-apoptotic activity of the PI3K-Akt pathway (Kennedy et al 1997).

Due to the critical role of Gi-dependent signals in LPA-driven cell proliferation, the Edg LPA receptors seem to be major receptor subtypes to activate mitogenic program although the possibility of inputs from non-Edg LPA receptors cannot be excluded. However, most cell lines express more than one Edg LPA receptor, making it difficult to link a proliferative response to a specific receptor subtype. In a few earlier studies, ectopic expression of the LPA₁ receptor supports LPA-dependent DNA synthesis in B103 cells (Fukushima et al 1998) and cellular survival in Schwann cells (Li et al 2003, Weiner and Chun 1999). In MEFs, deletion of LPA₁ or LPA₂ does not significantly affect proliferative response to LPA. However, simultaneous disruption of LPA₁ and LPA₂ strongly inhibited LPA-induced cell proliferation (Contos et al 2002), suggesting the functional redundancy between the two LPA receptors in mediating growth response of MEFs to LPA. In malignant cells particularly colon cancer cells, accumulating evidence indicate that LPA₂ mediates mitogenic signals. LPA₂ stimulates expression of a large number of cell cycle promoters or regulators such as c-Myc, cyclin D1, HIF1 α , and Krüppel-like factor 5 (Fang et al 2004, Hu et al 2001, Mori et al 2009, Yang et al 2005). The ability of LPA₂ to promote proliferation of malignant cells is consistent with its overexpression in many types of cancer and its recognized function as an oncogene.

The ultimate biological responses to LPA vary from one cell type to another, likely as a result of the types and expression levels of the LPA receptors as well as possible crosstalk with other families of cell surface receptors. LPA transactivation of receptor tyrosine kinases such as EGFR, PDGFR and c-met occurs in a panel of cancer cell lines (Goppelt-Struebe et al 2000, Oyesanya et al 2010, Zhao et al 2007). This crosscommunication may provide a permissive signal in combination with other G protein effectors to elicit cellular responses to LPA including cell proliferation.

1.1.4 LPA and cell motility

LPA stimulation of tumor cell invasion was first shown in 1993 (Imamura et al 1993). However, this biological activity of LPA was not well appreciated until the tumor cell motility-stimulating factor ATX was identified to be lysoPLD accounting for LPA production in the blood (Umezu-Goto et al 2002). ATX has long been known as a large protein secreted by melanoma and other cancer cells to enhance tumor cell migration and invasion through a GPCR-mediated mechanism (Stracke et al 1992). It is now well established that ATX stimulates tumor cell motility through formation and action of LPA.

The migratory effect of LPA and the underlying mechanism of action have become a subject of extensive recent studies in the area of LPA biology. It is now well known that LPA activates cell motility through G12/13-mediated activation of RhoA and Gi-PI3K-mediated activation of Rac. These small Rho GTPases regulate cell detachment and forward movement in a coordinate manner (Etienne-Manneville and Hall 2002). Precisely, RhoA mediates cell contraction through activation of ROCK which phosphorylates myosin light chain (MLC) and thereby induces actomyosin-based contractility and cell rounding (Kimura et al 1996). On the other hand, LPA activates Rac through a Gi, PI3K and guanine nucleotide exchange factor Tiam1 (Van Leeuwen et al 2003) or SOS1/EPS8/AB11 tri-complex (Chen et al 2010).

Using LPA1-/- skin fibroblasts, Hama et al provided compelling evidence that LPA₁ is essential for both LPA- and ATX-induced cell migration of fibroblasts (Hama et al 2004). Independent studies in the Rh7777 hepatoma cells (Umezu-Goto et al 2002) and the B103 neuroblastoma cells (Van Leeuwen et al 2003) devoid of functional LPA receptors indicated that ectopic expression of LPA₁ is sufficient to restore migratory responses to LPA. The importance of LPA₁ in LPA-dependent cell migration has been further confirmed in cancer cells of colon, breast (Chen et al 2007, Shida et al 2003), and stomach (Shida et al 2004a). Despite the primary role of LPA₁ in the migratory response to LPA, there has been also evidence for participation or auxiliary role of LPA₂ and even LPA₃ in LPA regulation of cell motility. However, it remains unknown whether LPA₂ or LPA₃ alone in the absence of LPA₁ is sufficient to initiate the migratory response to LPA. It is possible that in certain cellular contexts, these other LPA receptors could cooperate with LPA₁ to enhance or sustain migratory signals such as Rac activation. In contrast to the Edg LPA receptors, the non-Edg LPA receptors do not couple to Gi and Gi-dependent migratory signals. Instead, we have recently shown that using LPA4 wild type and null MEFs, the LPA4 receptor negatively regulates cell motility, likely through overactivation of the G12/13-Rho pathway to deregulate the ratio of Rac and Rho (Lee et al 2008). Appropriate balance of Rac and Rho activities plays a pivotal role in coordinating cellular migratory responses to various motogens.

1.2 TGFβ

1.2.1 TGFβ production and activation

TGF β (refers to TGF β 1 in TGF β family), is a polypeptide member of the TGF β super family of cytokines. It is ubiquitously expressed in human adult tissues, and dramatically increased in almost all cancer cell lines (Wu et al 2009). TGF β expression is regulated at multiple levels, including transcription, mRNA stability, and posttranslational processing. Van Obberghen-Schilling et al have shown that TGF β positively regulates its own expression in normal and transformed cells (Van Obberghen-Schilling et al 1988). In cancer cells, *v-src* was reported to transcriptionally activate TGF β through AP-1 (Birchenall-Roberts et al 1990). In tumor microenvironment, TGF β is also produced by infiltrated immune cells including dendritic cells, natural killer cells and natural regulatory T cells (Flavell et al 2010).

TGF β is synthesized as a precursor molecule containing a propeptide region in addition to the TGF β monomer (Derynck et al 1985). TGF β is secreted to the extracellular matrix (ECM) in a latent complex consisting of the TGF β dimer, latency associated peptide (LAP) dimer and latent TGF β -binding protein (LTBP) (Rifkin 2005). This complex is called large latent complex (LLC). After its secretion, the LLC remains in the ECM in the inactivated form. It will be further processed to release the active TGF β homodimer (Annes et al 2003).

TGF β can be activated in either integrin-dependent or integrin-independent manner. Matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs), such as MMP9 and MMP2 (Yu and Stamenkovic 2000), acidic pH (Lyons et al 1988), reactive oxygen species (ROS) (Barcellos-Hoff and Dix 1996) and thrombospondin-1 (TSP-1) (Schultz-Cherry and Murphy-Ullrich 1993) have all been shown to stimulate the release of TGF β from the latent form. The α V integrins can activate TGF β by binding to the RGD motif of LAP and induce a change in the conformation of the latent complex to liberate/activate TGF β from its latent complex, thereby allowing access of the mature TGF β to the TGF β receptors (T β Rs) and induction of classic TGF β signaling (Munger et al 1999). On the other hand, α V integrins also can create a close connection between the latent TGF β complex and MMPs (Mu et al 2002), a process similar to the mechanism for integrin interaction with ATX to localize LPA production from LPC in platelets (Fulkerson et al 2011).

1.2.2 TGFβ signaling

After release as a homodimer, TGF β binds to type II receptor (T β RII), leading to formation of a receptor complex and phosphorylation of the T β RI. After being phosphorylated and activated, the type I receptor subsequently phosphorylates a receptorregulated SMAD (R-Smad), allowing complex formation of R-Smad with Smad4 (co-Smad) and translocation to the nucleus where the Smad complex associates with a DNA- binding partner and binds to specific DNA region of TGF β target genes to activate or repress transcription (Massague 1998).

TGF β activation of T β RI and T β RII not only triggers activation of the Smad pathway as stated above but also induces activation of other Smad-independent signaling cascades by the kinase activities of the T β Rs. Rapid activation of MAPK pathways, including Erk, JNK and p38 MAPK occurs in a Smad-independent manner in TGF β challenged cells (Derynck and Zhang 2003). In addition, TGF β treatment rapidly activates Rho GTPases, including RhoA, Cdc42, and Rac. As mentioned earlier, the activation of these small GTPases causes membrane ruffling and formation of stress fibers and lamellipodia. Thus TGF β could induce changes in cell morphology, promotion of cell motility, and epithelial to mesenchymal transition (EMT) (Zavadil et al 2001).

1.2.3 Complexity and regulation of the TGFβ-Smad pathway

Receptors of ligands of the TGF β superfamily are characterized with a highly conserved intracellular serine-threonine kinase domain (Liu et al 2001). There are two functional classes of receptors for TGF β superfamily ligands: type II and type I, which are encoded by five and seven genes in human genome, respectively (Schmierer and Hill 2007). Binding of ligand recruits the pre-formed dimers of T β RII and T β RI to form heterotetrameric receptor complex (Sasaki et al 2003). The T β RII kinase is thought to be constitutively active and phosphorylates the T β RI at several serine and threonine residues in a glycine and serine rich domain (GS domain) which is strictly conserved in all type I T β Rs. Phosphorylation of the GS-domain enables recruitment of R-Smads: Smad1, Smad2, Smad3, Smad5 and Smad8. Smad2 and Smad3 are phosphorylated and activated by TGFβ while Smad1, Smad5 and Smad8 are phosphorylated/activated by bone morphogenetic protein (BMP) signal. R-Smads and Smad4 share two highly conserved domains, MH1 and MH2. Except for Smad2, which cannot bind DNA directly (Yagi et al 1999), the MH1 domains of other R-Smads and Smad4 are capable of DNA binding. The MH2 domain mediates Smad-receptor interactions, Smad-Smad interactions and Smad interactions with other transcription factors, co-activators or co-repressors (Schmierer and Hill 2007).

Negative feedback in TGF β signaling pathway is mediated by induction of the inhibitory Smads (I-Smads) Smad6 and Smad7. I-Smads also contain the MH2 domain which has been proposed to bind to R-Smads and form heterotrimmers to block their abilities to induce or repress expression of target genes (Zhang et al 2007). Other studies demonstrated the interaction of I-Smads with T β RI, causing competitive inhibition of R-Smad binding (Hayashi et al 1997). As an indirect mechanisms, Smad7 interacts constitutively with the HECT-domain E3 ubiquitin ligases SMURF1 and SMURF2 and targets them to the activated receptors, which leads to degradation of the active T β Rs (Ebisawa et al 2001, Kavsak et al 2000, Ogunjimi et al 2005). Smad7 also interacts with GADD34, a regulatory subunit of protein phosphtase-1 (PP1), therefore targeting the catalytic subunit of PP1 to activated T β R for dephosphorylation and inactivation (Shi et al 2004).

The I-Smads are not the only inhibitory mediators of the TGF β -Smad pathway. The Smad binding elements (SBEs) are not necessarily unoccupied in the absence of TGF β signal. The proto-oncoproteins SKI and SKI-related novel protein N (SnoN) bind the same repeated elements (GTCTAGAC) as the Smad3/4 complex and are thought to bind in conjunction with Smad4 (Stroschein et al 1999). TGF β signaling causes rapid degradation of SnoN, and to a lesser extent SKI, allowing the Smad3/4 complex to displace SKI and SnoN from SBEs (Stroschein et al 1999). SKI and SnoN have been shown to be overexpressed in multiple cancers. Therefore, the suppression of TGF β signal transduction by overexpressed SKI and SnoN may contribute to tumorigenesis (Reed et al 2005).

1.2.4 Cytostatic response genes of TGF^β

The role of TGF β in inducing cytostasis in normal epithelial cells is well characterized. In TGF β -treated cells, TGF β induces rapid and sustained expression of two cyclin-dependent kinase (CDK) inhibitors, p21^{Waf1} and p15^{Ink4b}. Moreover, TGF β downregulates expression of c-Myc, Id1 and Id2, three transcription factors involved in promotion of proliferation and inhibition of differentiation (Siegel and Massague 2003). As a general mode of TGF β regulation of gene expression, the Smad3-Smad4 complex binds to a DNA-binding cofactor which further lands on the gene promoter and regulates transcription. As illustrated in Figure 1.3, in the case of p21^{Waf1}, upon stimulation with TGF β , phosphorylated Smad3, Smad4 and transcription factor FoxO form an activator complex that binds to a specific region of the *p21^{Waf1}* gene promoter to initiate

transcription (Seoane et al 2004). In addition, the Smad complex can interact with the Sp1 transcription factor to activate the $p21^{Waf1}$ gene promoter (Pardali et al 2000). Transcription of $p15^{lnk4b}$ gene is also induced by binding of a Smad to the $p15^{lnk4b}$ gene promoter. However, the co-factor(s) for $p15^{lnk4b}$ induction by TGF β has not been identified yet (Seoane et al 2001). TGF β downregulation of c-Myc is mediated by a Smads-E2F4/5-p107 complex. Upon binding to the *c-Myc* promoter, the pocket protein p107 within the inhibitory complex recruits HDAC that functions as a transcriptional repressor (Chen et al 2002). The transcriptional repression of Id1 by TGF β requires a Smads-ATF3 complex binding to the *Id1* promoter (Kang et al 2003). The SBE site and ATF3 element on the *Id1* promoter are not clustered but instead set apart by 18 base pairs. Among the target genes of TGF β -mediated repression, *Id2* is the only one not directly repressed by a Smad complex. Id2 is transcriptionally activated by c-Myc-Max, hence downregulation of c-Myc expression by TGF β prevents Id2 transcription (Lasorella et al 2000).


1.3 Crosstalk between LPA and TGFB

A number of previous studies suggest that LPA indirectly interacts with TGF β signaling and functionality. For example, LPA induces expression and secretion of TGF β in human corneal fibroblasts (Jeon et al 2012). In human mesenchymal stem cells, LPA induces their differentiation into myofibroblast-like cells in an autocrine T β R-Smaddependent manner (Jeon et al 2008). In keratinocytes, LPA acts as a growth inhibitor instead of stimulator. Sauer et al reported that LPA transactivates Samd3 of the TGF β signaling pathway to exert such a cytostatic effect (Sauer et al 2004). Activation of latent TGF β is the rate-limiting step in TGF β bioavailability. Recent evidence suggests that LPA could also participate in the process of TGF β activation from its latent precursor (Xu et al 2009). Xu et al. showed that LPA stimulates $\alpha V\beta \beta$ integrin dependent activation of TGF β in epithelial cells via the LPA₂ receptor, RhoA and ROCK (Xu et al 2009). In airway smooth muscle cells, LPA induces TGF β activation via the integrin $\alpha V\beta \beta$ (Tatler et al 2011). Studies of genetic mouse models have implicated the LPA₁ receptor in the development of lung and renal fibrosis (Pradere et al 2008, Tager et al 2008). Accumulating evidence suggests that LPA interacts with TGF β signaling to stimulate expression of the pro-fibrotic connective tissue growth factor (CTGF) (Cabello-Verrugio et al 2011, Gan et al 2011, Pradere et al 2007, Vial et al 2008). Taken together, these investigations indicate that LPA regulates TGF β expression, activation, secretion or signaling, which may be relevant to diverse physiological and pathophysiological processes in mammalian cells.

On the other hand, there is little information on whether TGF β may crosscommunicate with LPA signal transduction to influence cellular functions, especially in epithelial carcinoma cells. As stated earlier, TGF β and LPA are co-present at elevated levels in tumor microenvironments. The known biological effects of TGF β and LPA on carcinoma cells are opposite or overlapping. In this dissertation project, I utilized breast and ovarian cancer cells as model systems to study combinatory effects of TGF β and LPA on two major cellular processes of cancer: growth and motility. These studies showed novel and interesting biological outcomes of LPA and TGF β co-treatment of breast and ovarian cancer cells and the underlying mechanisms. As described in chapter 2, we identified LPA-induced expression of the cyclin dependent kinase inhibitor p21 as an indispensable component of the TGF β -mediated cytostasis. TGF β alone induced p21 expression weakly in TGF β -sensitive cells. LPA cooperated with TGF β to elicit the maximal p21 induction. Mechanistically, LPA stimulated p21 via LPA₁ and LPA₂ receptors and Erk-dependent activation of the CCAAT/enhancer-binding protein beta (C/EBP β) transcription factor. When we examined the simultaneous effects of TGF β and LPA on tumor cell motility in Chapter 3, we found that TGF β signaling via a Smaddependent pathway inhibits activity of the LPA₁ gene promoter, LPA₁ mRNA transcription and LPA₁-dependent migration and invasion of breast and ovarian cancer cells. Further characterization using multiple molecular approaches showed that *LPA₁* is a physiological target gene of TGF β -mediated repression involving a specific TBE element on the LPA₁ promoter. The work represents the first detailed study of transcriptional regulation of an LPA receptor.

CHAPTER 2

LYSOPHOSPHATIDIC ACID–INDUCED P21^{WAF1} EXPRESSION MEDIATES THE CYTOSTATIC RESPONSE OF BREAST AND OVARIAN CANCER CELLS TO TRANSFORMING GROWTH FACTOR BETA

Part of the work presented in this Chapter has been published in Molecular Cancer Research 9(11): 1562-70, 2011

2.0 Abstract

Lysophosphatidic acid (LPA) is a multifunctional intercellular phospholipid mediator presents in blood and other biological fluids. In cancer cells, LPA stimulates expression or activity of inflammatory cytokines, angiogenic factors, matrix metalloproteinases, and other oncogenic proteins. In this study, we showed that LPA upregulated expression of the cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor $p21^{Waf1}$ in TGF β sensitive breast and ovarian cancer cells, but not in TGF β -resistant cells. We examined the possibility that LPA-induced p21 might contribute to the cytostatic response to TGF β . In serum-free conditions, TGF β alone induced p21 expression weakly in TGF β -sensitive cells. Serum or serum-borne LPA cooperated with TGF β to elicit the maximal p21 induction. LPA stimulated p21 via LPA₁ and LPA₂ receptors and Erk-dependent activation of the CCAAT/enhancer binding protein beta transcription factor independent of p53. Loss or gain of p21 expression led to a shift between TGF β -sensitive and resistant phenotypes in breast and ovarian cancer cells, indicating that p21 is a key determinant of the growth inhibitory activity of TGF β . Our results reveal a novel crosstalk between LPA and TGF β that underlies TGF β -sensitive and -resistant phenotypes of breast and ovarian cancer cells.

2.1 Introduction

LPA is a naturally occurring intercellular mediator of diverse biological processes including neurogenesis, angiogenesis, would healing, immunity, and carcinogenesis (Panupinthu et al 2010). LPA is produced by activated platelets during coagulation and thus is a normal constituent of serum (Eichholtz et al 1993, Sano et al 2002). LPA is a ligand of at least six G protein-coupled receptors (GPCRs) (Choi et al 2010). The LPA₁/Edg2, LPA₂/Edg4 and LPA₃/Edg7 receptors are members of the endothelial differentiation gene (Edg) family, sharing 50-57% homology in their amino acid sequences. GPR23/P2Y9/LPA₄ of the purinergic receptor family and the related GPR92/LPA₅ and P2Y5/LPA₆ have been identified as additional LPA receptors, which are structurally distinct from the LPA₁₋₃ receptors (Choi et al 2010). The LPA receptors couple to multiple G proteins, Gq, Gi, G12/13 and Gs, which, in turn, activate diverse pathways including Gq-mediated stimulation of phospholipase C (Fukushima and Chun 2001), Gi-mediated activation of the Ras-MAPK and PI3K (Takeda et al 1999), and G12/13-mediated activation of RhoA (Kranenburg et al 1999). Activation and integration of these signaling events downstream of LPA receptors leads to cytoskeleton remodeling, cell proliferation, survival, and migration (Mills and Moolenaar 2003). Recent studies demonstrated that LPA exerts its biological actions through transcriptional activation of multiple target genes involved in a wide range of physiological and pathophysiological processes (Teo et al 2009).

TGF β is also a platelet-derived factor that controls a multitude of biological activities including cell proliferation (Huang and Huang 2005), differentiation (Fei and Chen 2010), and apoptosis (Perlman et al 2001). The complicated role of TGF β is mediated through the heteromeric complex of transmembrane serine/threonine kinases, the type I and type II receptors (T β RI and T β RII), and the Smad family of transcription factors and non-Smad signaling pathways (de Caestecker et al 2000, Derynck and Zhang 2003). TGF β inhibits proliferation of epithelial cells and thus plays a role in early tumor suppression. However, TGF β frequently fails to induce growth arrest in transformed epithelial cells. On the other hand, TGF β stimulates migration and invasion of neoplastic cells, thereby promoting the metastatic potentials of advanced cancer (Bierie and Moses 2006, Massague 2008).

The anti-proliferative effect of TGF β is mediated by a complex signaling network involving T β RI and T β RII activation of Smad2/3 and ultimately transcriptional modulation of growth control genes such as induction of the cyclin-dependent kinase (CDK) inhibitors $p21^{Waf1}$ and $p15^{Ink4b}$, and suppression of the *c-Myc*, *Id1* and *Id2* transcription factors (Siegel and Massague 2003). Cancer cells tend to escape from the anti-proliferative effect of TGF β through acquisition of mutations in components of the TGF β signal transduction pathway or through deregulation of other signaling cascades interconnecting with the TGF β pathway (Derynck et al 2001). Mutations in the T β RII receptor gene (Siegel and Massague 2003) as well as mis-sense mutation or deletion of Smad2 and Samd4 (Sjoblom et al 2006, Yang and Yang 2010) have been identified in different types of cancer. There is also evidence for overexpression of oncoproteins in inactivation of the cytostatic effect of TGF β in cancer, such as Myc-Miz-1 complex (Seoane et al 2001), Evi-1 (Kim and Letterio 2003), FoxG1 (Seoane et al 2004), CDK (Matsuura et al 2004) and Ski and/or SnoN (Zhang et al 2003). However, these aberrations seen in only fractions of human tumors do not explain the generally altered responses to TGF β in a wide spectrum of cancers.

In the present study, we examined the potential crosstalk between LPA signaling and TGF β in growth regulation of breast and ovarian cancer cells. We report that LPA up-regulates expression of the CDK inhibitor p21 in breast and ovarian cancer cells sensitive to TGF β - induced growth arrest but not in TGF β -resistant cancer cells. In TGF β -sensitive cells, LPA cooperates with TGF β to elicit the maximal induction of p21 to mediate the cytostatic response to TGF β . Loss or gain of p21 expression led to a shift between TGF β sensitive and resistant phenotypes in these cells. Our results reveal a novel mechanism underlying the cytostatic program of TGF β in breast and ovarian cancer cells.

2.2 Materials and Methods

Materials Anti-phospho C/EBP β , phospho-Erk1/2, tubulin α/β antibodies and PD98059 were obtained from Cell Signaling (Danvers, MA). Anti-C/EBP β , p21, and Erk antibodies were from Santa Cruz Biotech (Santa Cruz, CA). LPA (1-oleoly, 18:1) and S1P were obtained from Avanti Polar Lipids, Inc. (Alabaster, AL). Prior to use, LPA and S1P were dissolved in PBS containing 0.5% fatty acid-free bovine serum albumin (BSA) obtained from Roche (Indianapolis, IN). TGF β was obtained from PeproTech Inc (Rocky Hill, NJ). TPA was from Sigma (St Louis, MI). Fetal bovine serum (FBS) was obtained from Atlanta Biological (Atlanta, GA). Oligonucleotides were synthesized by Operon Biotechnologies, Inc. (Huntsville, AL). TRIzol and cell culture reagents were obtained from Invitrogen Inc. (Carlsbad, CA). The transfection reagent Dharmafect 1 was obtained from Dharmacon (Lafayette, CO). Plasmid DNA was purified using the endo-free purification kit from Qiagen (Valencia, CA).

Cell Culture MDA-MB-231 was provided by S Spiegel (Virginia Commonwealth University). SK-BR-3 and BT-549 were obtained from Dr. G. Mills (MD Anderson Cancer Center). MDA-MB-231 cells were maintained in Dulbecco modified Eagle medium (DMEM) with 10% FBS and antibiotics (100 U/ml penicillin and 100 µg/ml streptomycin). Other breast and ovarian cancer cell lines used in the study were cultured in RPMI 1640 supplemented with 10% FBS and antibiotics as we described previously (Fang et al 2004).

Western blotting Cells were lysed in SDS sample buffer or in ice-cold X-100 lysis buffer [1% Triton X-100, 50 mM HEPES (pH 7.4), 150 mM NaCl, 1.5 mM MgCl₂, 1 mM EGTA, 10% glycerol, 100 mM NaF, 10 mM Na PPi, and protease inhibitor cocktail]. Total cellular proteins were resolved by SDS-PAGE, transferred to Immun-Blot membrane [poly(vinylidene difluoride)] from BIO-RAD (Hercules, CA), and immunoblotted with antibodies following the protocols of manufacturers. Immunocomplexes were visualized with an enhanced chemiluminescence detection kit from Amersham (Piscataway, NJ).

siRNA knockdown The siRNA oligos for LPA receptors (LPA₁ #4050, LPA₂ #44997, LPA₃ #136436 and LPA₅ #s32725), p21 (#S415) and C/EBP β (#s2891) were obtained from Applied Biosystems (Carlsbad, CA). siRNA oligos for Erk (Erk1 #L-003592-00 and Erk2 #L-03555-00) were obtained from Dharmacon (Lafayette, CO). They were transfected into cells using Dharmafect 1 following the manufacturers' protocol. In brief, cells were plated in 6-well plates to reach 50% confluence before transfection for 12-16 hours with specific siRNA (100 pmole) and Dhamafect 1 (4 µL). The transfected cells were cultured in complete medium for approximately 48 hours before experiments.

Quantitative PCR Total cellular RNA was isolated using Trizol (Invitrogen). Complementary DNA (cDNA) was synthesized from RNA (1 µg, random primers) using the High-Capacity cDNA Reverse Transcription Kit from Applied Biosystems. The relative levels of individual LPA receptors were determined using gene specific probes, the TaqMan Universal PCR Master Mix and the 7900HT Fast Real-Time PCR System (Applied Biosystems).

Statistics All numerical data were presented as mean \pm SD from at least 3 independent experiments. The statistical significance of differences was analyzed using Student's *t* test where *p*<0.05 was considered statistically significant.

2.3 Results

2.3.1 Induction of p21 by LPA in TGFβ-sensitive breast and ovarian cancer cells

It has been well documented that LPA regulates expression of cytokines, angiogenic factors and many other proteins involved in tumorigenesis and cancer metastasis (Fang et al 2004, Oyesanya et al 2008, Song et al 2009). In contrast to these oncogenic mediators, we also found that in a subset of breast and ovarian cancer cell lines, LPA up-regulates expression of p21, an inducible inhibitor of CDKs. As shown in Fig. 2.1A, in the MDA-MB-231 breast carcinoma cells and the Caov-3 ovarian carcinoma cells, LPA stimulated p21 expression in a time-dependent manner. Following addition of

10 µM LPA to serum-starved cells, p21 protein was induced at 1 hour. The p21 protein levels reached the maximum by 4 hours. Similarly, LPA also induced upregulation of p21 mRNA in these two cell lines (Fig. 2.1B).



Figure 2.1. LPA-induction of p21 in TGF β -sensitive breast and ovarian cancer cells. *A*. MDA-MB-231 cells and Caov-3 cells were starved in serum-free medium and treated with LPA (10 μ M) for the indicated periods of time. The cells were lysed with SDS sample buffer and expression of p21 protein was examined by immunoblotting. *B*. MDA-MB-231 cells and Caov-3 cells were treated with LPA (10 μ M) for 1 hour. Cells were lysed with TRIzol and RNA was isolated as described in Materials and Methods. The p21 mRNA levels were normalized to the untreated sample (untreated sample as 1). In this and following figures, data is presented as mean \pm SD, the statistical significances of the data were indicated with * if p<0.05, or ** if p<0.01.

The p21 protein inhibits activity of cyclin-CDK2 or cyclin-CDK4 complexes to block cell cycle progression at G1 phase (Brugarolas et al 1999). In addition, p21 can bind to proliferating cell nuclear antigen thereby blocking DNA synthesis (Waga et al 1994). Paradoxically, p21 has been also reported to stabilize interactions between CDK4/CKD6 and D-cyclins thus promoting the formation of active complexes in a concentration-dependent manner (Giacinti and Giordano 2006). Although modest levels of p21 may promote assembly of active cyclin-CDK complex (Cheng et al 1999), excessive expression of p21 generally causes cell cycle arrest. In our hands, the induction of p21 by LPA was not associated with growth inhibition. Instead, LPA treatment led to increased proliferation in MDA-MB-231 and Caov-3 cells (see Fig. 2.8) as well as in other breast and ovarian cancer cell lines in which LPA did not trigger p21 expression (Fig. 2.2).



Figure 2.2. Correlation between LPA-mediated p21 induction and sensitivity to TGF β mediated cytostasis. Various breast and ovarian cancer cell lines in 6-well plates were incubated for 48 hours in complete medium with or without TGF β (2.5 ng/ml). Cell numbers were quantified with a Coulter counter. The induction of p21 protein by LPA in these cell lines was examined by immunoblotting as described in *Fig. 2.1*.

In an effort to understand the biological significance of LPA-mediated p21 induction, we noticed surprisingly that LPA stimulated p21 expression only in cell lines sensitive to the TGF β -induced growth arrest but not in cells refractory to TGF β . As demonstrated in Fig. 2.2, treatment of MDA-MB-231 and Caov-3 cells with TGF β (2.5 ng/ml) for 48 hours resulted in a significant decrease in cell numbers compared to control cells cultured in the absence of TGF β . In contrast, TGF β did not inhibit the growth of cell lines such as BT-549, SK-BR-3, OVCA-432 and SKOV-3 in which LPA did not induce p21 (Fig. 2.2).

2.3.2 Correlation of LPA and TGF^β induction of p21

We next explored the possibility that LPA-driven p21 expression modulates the sensitivity of breast and ovarian cancer cells to TGF β . Coincidently, the effect of TGF β on p21 expression was identical to that of LPA in these breast and ovarian cancer cells. As shown in Fig. 2.3, TGF β induced p21 expression at significant levels only in MDA-MB-231 and Caov-3 cells but not in TGF β -resistant lines in which LPA failed to induce p21 (Fig. 2.3).



The loss of p21 inducibility by TGF β could be due to abnormalities in TGF β receptors or the TGF β intracellular signaling through Smads. It is well known that TGF β superfamily ligands bind to a T β RII, which recruits and phosphorylates a T β RI. T β RI then phosphorylates receptor-regulated Smads (R-Smad) such as Smad2 and Smad3, which then bind to the common mediator Smad (co-Smad). R-Smad forms heterodimeric complexes with co-Smads and accumulates in the nucleus where the complexes participate in regulation of TGF β target genes involved in growth control (Siegel and Massague 2003). As shown in Fig. 2.3, TGF β induced phosphorylation of Smad3 in all breast and ovarian cancer cell lines examined, irrespective of their status of TGF β sensitivity. To further confirm the presence of the intact TGF β signaling in these cells, we examined TGF β induction of another TGF β target gene Plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 (PAI-1). Upon treatment of TGF β , all cell lines showed increased expression of PAI-1

mRNA (Fig. 2.4). This suggests that both TGF β -sensitive and resistant cells maintain functional TGF β receptors and the Smad3 signal transducer.



2.3.3 Input of LPA signaling in TGFβ-induced p21 expression

Because phosphorylation of Smad3 by TGF β was observed in both TGF β sensitive and resistant cells, p21 induction by TGF β seems to involve signaling routes other than the canonical Smad pathway in these cells. In addition, both MDA-MB-231 and Caov-3 carry mutant p53 (Hui et al 2006, Yaginuma and Westphal 1992). TGF β induced p21 expression in these cells is apparently mediated by a p53-independent process. We therefore examined the possibility that LPA contributes to TGF β -induced p21 expression in the TGF β -sensitive MDA-MB-231 and Caov-3 cells. When these cells were cultured in serum-free medium, TGF β stimulated only weak to modest levels of p21 (Fig. 2.5A). The maximal p21 induction by TGF β was seen when the cells were incubated in complete medium containing FBS (Fig. 2.5A), a condition in which the effects of TGF β on cell proliferation and p21 expression were assessed in earlier experiments (Fig. 2.2). Serum itself induced p21 expression in MDA-MB-231 and Caov-3 cells. This suggests that induction of p21 by TGF β that we had observed resulted from a combined action of TGF β and a co-factor present in serum.

LPA is a prominent serum-borne factor responsible for many biological activities of serum (Moolenaar 1999). To determine whether LPA reproduces the action of serum in concert with TGF β to maximize p21 induction, we examined the effect of LPA and TGF β on p21 expression in MDA-MB-231 and Caov-3 cells. Indeed, p21 induction was maximized when both LPA and TGF β were present (Fig. 2.5B). We also assessed other serum factors such as sphingosine 1 phosphate (S1P) and insulin for their ability to regulate p21 expression (Hiromura et al 2002, Kim et al 2004). In contrast to LPA, S1P and insulin did not increase p21 expression. Nor did S1P and insulin potentiate the effect of TGF β on p21. Taken together, these results suggest that a significant input of TGF β induced p21 is attributable to the action of LPA, which likely underlies the sensitivity of breast and ovarian cancer cells to TGF β .



Figure 2.5. Input of LPA action in TGF β -mediated p21 induction. *A*. MDA-MB-231 and Caov-3 cells were serum starved and stimulated for 6 hours with TGF β (2.5 ng/ml), FBS (5%), or TGF β +FBS. Expression of p21 in these cells was assessed by immunoblotting. *B*. MDA-MB-231 and Caov-3 cells were treated and analyzed as described in *A* except that FBS was replaced with LPA (10 μ M).

2.3.4 Role of p21 in mediating the cytostatic response to TGFβ

To confirm an essential role for p21 in mediating the TGF β response, we used siRNA to knockdown p21 expression in the TGF β sensitive MDA-MB-231 and Caov-3 cells. As shown in Fig. 2.6A, suppression of p21 induction by siRNA converted these

cells into a resistant phenotype. The p21 knockdown cells became insensitive to the inhibitory effect of TGF β , confirming that p21 induction is indeed a key component of TGF β -induced cytostasis in breast and ovarian cancer cells.

If the p21 inducibility distinguishes TGF β -sensitive cells from resistant ones, we assume that the resistant cells could be rendered sensitive to TGF β when p21 is induced somehow by other p21 stimuli. To test this possibility, we took advantage of the fact that phorbol ester (12-O-tetradecanoylphorbol-13-acetate, TPA) induces expression of p21 in cancer cells (Salabat et al 2006). We treated the TGF β -resistant cell lines with TGF β alone or TGF β and TPA (0.1 μ M). The presence of TPA led to induction of high and sustained expression of p21 while the cells treated with TGF^β alone did not show p21 expression (Fig.2.6B). Treatment with TPA was not associated with inhibition of cell proliferation as shown in Fig. 2.6B, suggesting that p21 induced by TPA was not sufficient to affect cell growth without TGF^β. However, the presence of TPA-induced p21 expression enables TGF β to suppress growth of these otherwise TGF β -resistant cells, consistent with the importance of p21 in mediating TGF_β sensitivity (Fig. 2.6B). To confirm that the growth inhibitory effect was due to the presence of p21 not the apoptotic effect of TPA, we performed annexin V staining on TGFβ or TGFβ+TPA treated BT-549 and OVCA-432 cells. No significant increase of apoptosis was observed with the presence of TPA (Fig. 2.7).



Figure 2.6. Essential role of p21 in the cytostatic response to TGF β . *A*. The TGF β sensitive cells lost sensitivity to TGF β following siRNA knockdown of p21 expression. MDA-MB-231 and Caov-3 cells in 6-well plates were transfected with control or p21 siRNA. The cells were treated for 48 hours with or without TGF β (2.5 ng/ml) before quantification of cell numbers with a Coulter counter. Efficiency of p21 siRNA knockdown was confirmed by immunoblotting. *B*. TGF β resistant cell lines gained sensitivity to TGF β following TPA induction of p21. BT-549 and OVCA-432 in 6-well plates were treated for 48 hours with or without TGF β in the presence of TPA (0.1 µM) or vehicle before quantification of cell numbers. Expression of p21 in these cells treated with TGF β , TPA or TGF β +TPA was analyzed by immunoblotting.



Figure 2.7. TPA treatment has no effect in cell apoptosis. BT-549 and OVCA-432 cells treated with TGF β or TPA+TGF β for 48 hours. Cells were analyzed for apoptosis using vibrant Apoptosis Kit #3 (Invitrogen) to stain apoptotic cells with fluorescence-conjugated Annexin V.

2.3.5 p21-dependent inhibition of LPA-driven cell proliferation by TGFβ

LPA stimulated p21 expression in MDA-MB-231 and Caov-3 cells (Fig. 2.5B). However, in spite of the robust and sustained induction of p21, LPA is mitogenic towards these cells. To determine whether TGF β is able to block the mitogenic effect of LPA, we compared the growth of MDA-MB-231 and Caov-3 cells incubated with LPA in the absence or presence of TGF β . Fig. 2.8A shows that TGF β effectively inhibits cell number increases stimulated by LPA. Moreover, siRNA knockdown of p21 expression resulted in resistance of these cells to TGF β (Fig. 2.8B), confirming an essential role for p21 in TGF β repression of LPA-induced cell proliferation. In TGF β -resistant breast and ovarian cancer cell lines, LPA also acted as a mitogen. The mitogenic activity of LPA, however, was not affected by TGF β , consistent with the lack of induction of p21 by LPA, TGF β or LPA and TGF β in these cells.



Figure 2.8. p21-dependent inhibition of LPA-induced cell proliferation by TGF β . *A*. TGF β inhibits LPA-afforded cell proliferation. MDA-MB-231 and Caov-3 cells in 6-well plates were incubated with LPA (10 μ M) or vehicle (BSA) in the presence or absence of TGF β (2.5 ng/ml). *B*. The growth inhibitory effect of TGF β depends on p21 induction. MDA-MB-231 and Caov-3 cells were transfected with control or p21 siRNA as described in Figure 4. The cells were treated with LPA in the presence or absence of TGF β . The cell numbers presented in both panels were determined after 48 hours. Efficiency of p21 siRNA knockdown in transfected cells was analyzed by immunoblotting as shown in *Fig. 2.5A*.

2.3.6 Mechanisms for LPA induction of p21

Ovarian and breast cancer cells express multiple LPA receptors including LPA₁, LPA₂, LPA₃ and LPA₅ as described previously (Fang et al 2002, Finak et al 2008, Liu et al 2009). Expression of the LPA₄ and LPA₆ receptors was very low in the breast and ovarian cancer lines. We thus used siRNA to knockdown expression of LPA₁, LPA₂, LPA₃ or LPA₅. The cells treated with LPA were then examined for p21 protein expression. LPA-induced p21 was drastically reduced by downregulation of LPA₁ or LPA₂ (Fig. 2.9). Knockdown of LPA₃ or LPA₅ did not attenuate the effect of LPA on p21 expression. Therefore, we conclude that LPA-stimulated p21 expression in MDA-MB-231 and Caov-3 cells occurs through the LPA₁ and LPA₂ receptors.



Figure 2.9. LPA₁ and LPA₂ are responsible for LPA stimulation of p21. MDA-MB-231 and Caov-3 cells were transfected with specific siRNA for LPA₁₋₃, LPA₅ or non-target control siRNA. The cells were serum starved and stimulated with LPA (10 μ M) before immunoblotting analysis of p21 protein expression. The efficiency of knockdown of individual LPA receptors was examined by RT and quantitative PCR as described in Materials and Methods. The mRNA levels of LPA receptors were presented as percentages relative to those in the control siRNA-transfected cells (defined as 100%).

LPA induced strong and sustained activation of Erk in MDA-MB-231 and Caov-3 cells (Fig. 2.10) (Du et al 2010, Oyesanya et al 2010). When Erk1 and Erk2 were silenced by siRNAs, LPA induction of p21 was blocked (Fig. 2.10A), indicating that the Erk pathway is linked to activation of p21 expression in response to LPA. In contrast to Erk, PI3K was dispensable for LPA-induced p21 induction because its inhibitor LY-294002 did not attenuate the effect of LPA on p21 expression.

Erk couples directly or indirectly to diverse downstream effectors and transcription factors that could culminate in p21 expression. We used siRNA to screen for transcription factors required for LPA-induced p21 expression including AP-1, Sp1, NF- κ B and C/EBP β . In this group of transcription factors, C/EBP β was found to be critical to the p21 induction. Knockdown of C/EBP β expression prevented LPA-induced p21 expression (Fig. 2.10B). Finally, inhibition of Erk activity with the MEK inhibitor PD98059 prevented C/EBP β phosphorylation and the subsequent p21 induction in LPA-treated MDA-MB-231 and Caov-3 cells (Fig. 2.10C). These findings demonstrate that LPA stimulates p21 expression through the LPA_{1/2}-Erk-C/EBP β signaling network.



Figure 2.10. Induction of p21 by LPA through the LPA₁/LPA₂-Erk-C/EBP β pathway. *A.* Knockdown of Erk1/2 blocks LPA induction of p21. MDA-MB-231 and Caov-3 cells were transfected with Erk siRNAs or non-target control siRNA. The cells were stimulated for 6 hours with LPA (10 μ M) followed by immunoblotting analysis of p21, Erk and tubulin proteins. *B.* C/EBP β was critical for LPA induction of p21. MDA-MB-231 and Caov-3 cells were transfected with control or C/EBP β siRNA. The transfected cells were treated for 6 hours with LPA and analyzed for p21 and C/EBP β protein expression. *C.* MDA-MB-231 and Caov-3 cells were serum starved and then treated with LPA (10 μ M) in the presence of PD98059 (30 μ M) or vehicle (DMSO). PD98059 was added 1 hour before LPA. Cells were then lysed at indicated time points. Levels of phospho-Erk1/2, p21 and phospho-C/EBP β were examined by immunoblotting.

2.4 Discussion

TGFβ-mediated cytostasis is induced, at least in part by Smad-dependent activation of TGF β target genes involved in cell cycle control, primarily CDK inhibitors p15, p21 and p27. In addition, TGFβ activation of Smad represses expression of proteins that promotes cell cycle progression including c-Myc, Id1, Id2, E2F, and Sp-1 (Feng et al 2000, Massague 2004). These TGF β -induced cytostatic transcriptional programs, however, are subverted in a majority of cancers, leading to cytostatic resistance to $TGF\beta$ (Barcellos-Hoff and Ewan 2000). In addition to genetic and epigenetic aberrations in TGF β receptors or Smad proteins, emerging data suggests that in most malignancies, abrogation of TGF_β-induced growth arrest is mediated by abnormal expression or function of intracellular proteins implicated in Smad regulation of its target genes (Massague 2008). In theory, environmental cues that influence expression or activity of Smad, Smad regulatory circuits or Smad responsive genes could also alter cellular responses to TGF β . However, there have been few studies to analyze potential crosstalk between extracellular factors such as LPA and TGF\beta-Smad to regulate the responsiveness of cancer cells to TGFβ.

Using breast and ovarian cancer cells as a model system, we demonstrated that LPA upregulates expression of the prototype Smad target gene p21, contributing to the TGF β -mediated growth inhibition. The conclusions were summarized as a model shown in Fig. 2.11. In these cells, the ability of LPA to stimulate p21 expression correlated well with TGF β induction of p21 and the cytostatic effect of TGF β . By means of induction and suppression of p21 expression in TGF β -resistant and sensitive cells, we could reverse

the cellular responses to TGF β confirming an essential role of p21 in mediating the cytostatic response to TGF β . Previous studies in breast and ovarian cancer cells also supported the involvement of p21 as a key mediator of TGF β -induced growth inhibition (Massague 2004).



Figure 2.11. Working model: LPA induced p21 mediates response of breast and ovarian cancer cells to TGF β . Induction of p21 from the LPA_{1/2}-ERK-C/EBP β pathway is required for cells to respond to TGF β mediated cytostasis. P: phosphate, yellow oval: Smad3, blue oval: Smad4.

Another observation in ovarian cancer indicates that abrogation of TGF β induced growth arrest is associated with overexpression of FoxG1, a negative regulator of p21 expression (Chan et al 2008). Therefore, p21 seems to be a general mediator of TGF β induced growth arrest in multiple types of cancer cells. The findings of the present work highlight the possibility that the sensitivity to TGF β in breast and ovarian cancer cells could be reconstituted through upregulation of p21 expression. It will be of interest to develop and test agents that can specifically activate p21 expression or stabilize p21 protein in cancer cells.

An interesting finding in the current study is that p21 induction in TGF β sensitive cells is accomplished through cooperative effects of TGF β and the serum-borne factor LPA. A significant input of p21 expression is evoked from LPA activation of its receptors, namely LPA₁ and LPA₂. Using molecular and pharmacological approaches, we further demonstrated that LPA upregulates p21 expression in TGF β responsive cells through the Erk-C/EBP β signaling pathway. We have previously shown that C/EBP β is a transcription factor activated by LPA which accounts for LPA-induced expression of Cox-2 and sphingosine kinase 1 in various cancer cells (Oyesanya et al 2008, Ramachandran et al 2010). The results in the present work links C/EBP β to the induction of p21 by LPA in TGF β growth arrest program in breast and ovarian cancer cells, suggesting a general role for this transcription factor in regulation of LPA target genes. Consistent with their resistance to TGF β , the stimulatory effect of LPA on p21 was not seen in most breast and ovarian cancer cell lines. The differential effects of LPA on p21 in different cell lines are not fully understood but could be due to distinct expression patterns of LPA receptors in these cells. The receptor knockdown experiments in the TGF β -sensitive MDA-MB-231 and Caov-3 cells indicated that both LPA₁ and LPA₂ receptors are required for induction of p21 by LPA. Among the TGF β -resistant cell lines, SKOV-3 and BT-549 express low levels of LPA₂ (Chen et al 2007, Fang et al 2004) and OVCA-432 exhibits elevated LPA₃ (Fang et al 2004). It is conceivable that co-expression of two or more receptors at appropriate levels is important for optimal induction of p21 by LPA. Alternatively, it is also possible that certain LPA receptors including the conventional LPA₃, novel LPA receptor subtypes and other unknown LPA receptors could be present in the resistant cells and function as negative regulators of certain biological functions of LPA.

CHAPTER 3

THE LYSOPHOSPHATIDIC ACID RECEPTOR 1 IS A NOVEL TARGET GENE OF TRANSFORMING GROWTH FACTOR BETA

3.0 Abstract

LPA₁/Edg2 is the first identified LPA receptor. Although its wide tissue distribution and biological functions have been well studied, little is known about how LPA_I is transcriptionally regulated. In this part of my dissertation, I showed that LPA_I is a physiological target of transforming growth factor beta (TGF β)-mediated repression. In both normal and neoplastic cells, TGF β inhibits LPA_I promoter activity, LPA₁ mRNA expression, and LPA₁-dependent chemotaxis and tumor cell invasion. Knockdown of the TGF β intracellular effector Smad3 or Smad4 with lentivirally transduced shRNA relieved these inhibitory effects of TGF β . Interestingly, the LPA_I promoter contains two potential TGF β inhibitory elements (TIEs), each consisting of a Smad binding site and an adjacent E2F4/5 element, structurally similar to the TIE found on the promoter of the well-defined TGF β target gene *c-Myc*. Deletion and point mutation analysis indicate that the distal TIE

located at 401 bp from the transcription initiation site, is required for TGF β repression of the *LPA*₁ promoter. A DNA pull-down assay showed that the -401 TIE was capable of binding Samd3 and E2F4/5 in TGF β -treated cells. The binding of the Smad complex to the native -401 TIE sequence of the *LPA*₁ gene promoter was further verified by chromatin immunoprecipitation assays. We therefore identified a novel role of TGF β in the control of *LPA*₁ expression and LPA₁-coupled biological functions, adding *LPA*₁ to the list of TGF β -repressed target genes.

3.1 Introduction

LPA is a naturally occurring intercellular mediator of diverse biological processes including neurogenesis, angiogenesis, wound healing, immunity, and carcinogenesis (Panupinthu et al 2010). LPA is produced by activated platelets during coagulation and thus is a normal constituent of serum (Sano et al 2002). LPA is a ligand of multiple G protein-coupled receptors (GPCRs) (Fukushima and Chun 2001). The LPA₁/Edg2, LPA₂/Edg4 and LPA₃/Edg7 receptors are members of the endothelial differentiation gene (Edg) family, sharing 50-57% homology in their amino acid sequences. In addition to the Edg LPA₁₋₃ receptors, GPR23/P2Y9/LPA₄ of the purinergic receptor family, the related GPR92/LPA₅, and P2Y5/LPA₆ have been reported to be additional LPA receptors (Fukushima and Chun 2001).

 LPA_1 is expressed in most adult tissues and in embryonic cells. Only minor abnormalities such as craniofacial dysmorphism and defective sucking behavior were found in *lpa*₁-deficient mice (Contos et al 2000a). However, more recent studies of *lpa*₁ null mice subjected to various pathophysiological conditions revealed that LPA₁ is involved in initiation of neuropathic pain (Inoue et al 2004), embryonic and adult neurogenesis and promotion of pulmonary and renal fibrosis (Pradere et al 2007, Tager et al 2008). Some of these biological functions of LPA₁ are attributed to the motility-stimulating activity of LPA in mammalian cells. Substantial evidence indicates that LPA₁ is the primary LPA receptor subtype to mediate LPA-dependent chemotaxis and tumor cell invasion. In contrast to the LPA₂ receptor that is commonly overexpressed in various cancers, gene expression profiling studies failed to show any consensus increase in LPA₁ expression between normal and malignant cells (Hendrix et al 2006, Radvanyi et al 2005, Sanchez-Carbayo et al 2006, Skrzypczak et al 2010, Su et al 2007). Instead, some expression profiling or array analyses suggest decreases in LPA₁ mRNA expression in various malignancies (Hendrix et al 2006, Sanchez-Carbayo et al 2004b, Skrzypczak et al 2010, Su et al 2006, Shida et al 2004b, Skrzypczak et al 2010, Su et al 2006, Shida et al 2004b, Skrzypczak et al 2010, Su et al 2007).

More intriguingly, several groups recently reported that *LPA*₁ expression is repressed by Nm23 (Horak et al 2007b, Marshall et al 2010). Nm23 is the first identified metastasis suppressor gene that, by definition, inhibits the process of metastasis but not growth of primary tumors (Marshall et al 2010). In human breast carcinomas, LPA₁ expression inversely correlated with that of Nm23 (Horak et al 2007b). However, little is known about how Nm23 represses LPA₁. Furthermore, there is no evidence that LPA₁ expression is elevated in metastatic cancer compared to primary tumors. Thus, LPA₁ expression is apparently controlled by complex regulatory mechanisms involving other unrecognized activators or repressors. In the present study, we showed for the first time that TGF β , a platelet-derived cytokine co-present with LPA in the circulation and tumor microenvironments, represses *LPA*₁ gene transcription and LPA₁-dependent motility-stimulating activity via a TGF β inhibitory element (TIE) containing both Smad and E2F4/5 binding sites on the *LPA*₁ gene promoter. These results represent a novel form of crosstalk between TGF β and LPA signaling.

3.2 Materials and Methods

Materials LPA (1-oleoly, 18:1) was obtained from Avanti Polar Lipids, Inc. (Alabaster, AL). Prior to use, LPA was dissolved in PBS containing 0.5% fatty acid-free bovine serum albumin (BSA) obtained from Roche (Indianapolis, IN). TGF β was obtained from PeproTech Inc (Rocky Hill, NJ). Anti-Smad3 and Smad4 antibodies were from Abcam (Cambridge, MA). Tubulin α/β antibody was obtained from Cell Signaling (Danvers, MA). Anti-E2F4 antibody was from Santa Cruz Biotech (Santa Cruz, CA). FBS was obtained from Atlanta Biological (Atlanta, GA). All primers were synthesized by Operon Biotechnologies, Inc. (Huntsville, AL). Biotinylated dsDNA were synthesized by IDT (Coralville, IA). TRIzol and cell culture reagents were obtained from Invitrogen Inc. (Carlsbad, CA). Reverse transcription kit, TaqMan gene expression assays, SYBR Green PCR mix and QPCR master mix were obtained from Applied Biosystems (Carlsbad, CA). The transfection reagent LT1 was obtained from Mirus (Madison, WI). Plasmid DNA was purified using the endo-free purification kit from Qiagen (Valencia, CA).

Cell Culture MDA-MB-231 was provided by Dr. S Spiegel (Virginia Commonwealth University) and was maintained in Dulbecco modified Eagle medium (DMEM) with 10% FBS and 100 U/ml penicillin and 100 µg/ml streptomycin). IOSE-29 was originally obtained from Dr. N. Auersperg (University of British Columbia, Canada) and cultured as described previously (Auersperg et al 1994). Primary Mammary epithelial cells (1001-8) and primary ovarian epithelial cells (NOE-71) were provided by Dr. Y. Yu (MD Anderson Cancer Center) and were cultured in HuMEC Ready Medium (Invitrogen) and 50:50 M199/F12 medium with 10% FBS, 20 ng/ml EGF and gentamicin (10 µg/ml), respectively. MCF-10A was provided by Dr. D. Gewirtz (Virginia Commonwealth University) and kept in DMEM/F12 medium with 5% horse serum, 10 µg/ml insulin, 20 ng/ml EGF, 100 ng/ml cholera toxin and 0.5 µg/ml hydrocortisone. Other cancer cell lines used in the study were cultured in RPMI 1640 supplemented with 10% FBS and antibiotics as we described previously (Fang et al 2004).

Migration and invasion assays Cell migration was measured using the Transwell chambers (Costar, Corning, NY). Transwell were coated with 10 µg/ml Type I collagen and placed in the lower chamber containing serum-free medium supplemented with vehicle, TGF β , LPA or LPA+TGF β . Cells suspended in serum-free medium containing 0.01% fatty acid-free BSA were added to the upper chamber at 2 × 10⁴ cells/well. Cells were allowed to migrate for 6 hours at 37 °C. Non-migrated cells were removed from the top filter surface with a cotton swab. Migrated cells attached to the underside of the Transwell were washed with PBS and stained with crystal violet and counted under a

microscope. The invasion of tumor cell lines was measured using the growth factorreduced Matrigel invasion chambers (BD Biosciences, San Jose, CA). The assays were performed as migration assays except that the cells were incubated for 20 hours.

shRNA short hairpin RNA (shRNA)-expressing lentivirus constructs were generated using pLV-RNAi vector (Biosettia, San Diego, CA). The Smad3 target sequences (Smad3sh1 GTGA-CCACCAGATGAACCA (Blount et al 2008), Smad3sh2 GGATTGAGCTGCACCTGAATG (Jazag et al 2005) and Smad4 target sequences (Smad4sh1 GCAGGTGGCTGGTCGGAAA (Giampieri et al 2009), Smad4sh2 GCCAGCTACTTACCATCATA (Deckers et al 2006)) were inserted to the pLV-RNAi plasmid following the manufacturer's protocol. The LPA₁ shRNA plasmids were obtained from Dr. S. Huang (Medical College of Georgia). The shRNA lentiviruses were propagated in 293FT cells. The culture supernatants were used to infect cancer cell lines. The GFP-positive cells were sorted out using flow cytometer proximately a week after virus infection.

Quantitative PCR (qPCR) Total cellular RNA was isolated using Trizol (Invitrogen). Complementary DNA (cDNA) was synthesized from RNA (1 µg, random primers) using the High-Capacity cDNA Reverse Transcription Kit from Applied Biosystems. The relative levels of individual LPA receptors were determined using gene specific probes, the TaqMan Universal PCR Master Mix and the 7900HT Prism Real-Time PCR System
(Applied Biosystems).

Luciferase vectors, deletion, and site-directed mutagenesis The luciferase reporter vector pGL2-LPA₁-Luc containing -1156 to +86 was generated by PCR amplification of the LPA_1 promoter sequence (forward 5'-GCACTCGAGTGCAAAGCT-ACACTGGGAAA-3', reverse 5'-GCAAAGCTTCACACTCTCACTGGCACTCG-3'). The PCR product was inserted into pGL2-Basic-Luc at XhoI and HindIII sites. The deletion mutant (-366 to +86) was made by PCR amplification of the fragment from pGL2-LPA₁-Luc (forward 5'-GCACTCGAGCTGACGCTCCCTGAGTGG-3', reverse 5'-GCAAAGCTTCACACTCTC-ACTGGCACTCG-3') and re-inserted into the pGL2-Basic-Luc at the *XhoI* and *HindIII* sites. The promoter sequences in these plasmids were verified by automatic sequencing. The -401 and -40 TIE consensus sites within pGL-LPA₁-Luc were converted into inactive sequences by site-directed mutagenesis. The wild type -401 TIE 5'-GGCTTTGGCGCG and wide type -40 TIE 5'-GGCTTCGCGC were converted into 5'-GGCTAATTCGCGC and 5'-GGCAATTCGCC, respectively. For luciferase assays, MDA-MB-231 and SKOV-3 were transfected with luciferase vectors using TransIT-LT1 (Mirus Bio). About 48 to 60 hours after transfection, the cells were treated with TGF β or vehicle for 16-20 hours. Cell extracts were prepared and assayed for luciferase activity using the luciferase assay kit from Promega.

DNA pull-down assay Lysates of MDA-MB-231 and SKOV-3 cells were prepared by

brief sonication in the HKMG buffer (10 mM, Tris-HCl, pH 7.9, 100 mM KCl, 5 mM MgCl₂, 10% glycerol, 1 mM DTT, 0.1% NP40 and protease inhibitors) using the Fisher Scientific Sonic Dismembrator Model 100, followed by 10 minutes of centrifugation at 12,000 $\times g$ at 4 °C. Cellular proteins (400 µg) were incubated with 4 µg of biotinylated double-stranded oligonucleotides (5'-CCCTACTGCCCGGCTTTGGCGCGCTGG-CAGGAGGAG–biotin) for 16 hours at 4 °C. The M-280 Streptavidin Dynabeads (Invitrogen) (30 µl) were added to each sample and incubated for another hour at 4 °C. The Dynabeads were washed three times with PBS before western analysis of Smad3 or E2F4.

Chromatin immunoprecipitation (ChIP) assay TGFβ or vehicle-treated MDA-MB-231 and SKOV-3 cells were cross-linked with 1% formaldehyde for 10 minutes at room temperature. The cells were lysed for 10 minutes in ice-cold lysis buffer (5 mM HEPES, pH 8.0, 80 mM KCl, 1% NP40 and protease inhibitors). The nuclear fraction that was recovered by centrifugation (5 minutes at 5000 × g) was resuspended in a ChIP assay buffer (50 mM HEPES, pH 8.0, 10 mM EDTA, 1% SDS, and protease inhibitors) and sonicated on ice to achieve an average chromatin length of 200-1000 bp. The sonicated samples were pre-cleared by incubation with Protein G Dynabeads (Invitrogen). The material recovered from the equivalent of 10⁶ cells was incubated for 16 hours at 4 °C with 2 µg of either normal rabbit IgG (Santa Cruz), anti-Smad3, Smad4 or E2F4 antibodies. Protein G Dynabeads were added and incubated for 2 hours. The DNA- protein-beads mixes were washed sequentially once with a low salt buffer (20 mM Tris, pH 8.0, 150 mM NaCl, 2 mM EDTA, 0.1% SDS, 1% Triton 100), once with a high salt buffer (20 mM Tris, pH 8.0, 500 mM NaCl, 2 mM EDTA, 0.1% SDS, 1% Triton 100), once with LiCl buffer (10 mM Tris-HCl, pH 8.0, 0,25 M LiCl, 1 mM EDTA, 1% deoxycholate, 1% NP-40), and finally twice with TE buffer (10 mM Tris-HCl, pH 8, 1 mM EDTA). The specifically bound complexes were eluted from the Protein G Dynabeads by incubation twice for 15 minutes at 65 $^{\circ}$ C with TE elution buffer (10 mM Tris-HCl, pH 8, 1 mM EDTA, 1% SDS). The immunoprecipitated complexes and the starting material (input) were incubated overnight at 65 $^{\circ}$ C to reverse crosslinking, then treated with RNase A followed by proteinase K and purified using the QIAquick Spin Columns (Qiagen, Valencia, CA). The DNA samples were recovered in 100 μ L H₂O, and analyzed by qPCR using SYBR Green. Details of the primer used for qPCR were listed in Table 3.1.

Table 3.1. Primers used in ChIP assays	
-401 Forward	5'-GTGCTACGTGGAACAAGCAG-3'
-401 Reverse	5'-GGCGGGACAGTGTGAGC-3'
-40 Forward	5'-AGCGAGCGCAGGTAAGG-3'
-40 Reverse	5'-GCACCCACACTCTCACTGG-3'
c-Myc TIE Forward	5'-TTATAATGCGAGGGTCTGGA-3'
c-Myc TIE Reverse	5'-TGCCTCTCGCTGGAATTACT-3'

Statistics All numerical data were presented as mean \pm SD from at least 3 independent experiments. The statistical significance of differences was analyzed using Student's *t* test where *p*<0.05 was considered statistically significant.

3.3 Results

3.3.1 TGFβ inhibits expression of LPA₁

Previous studies showed that LPA stimulates production and release of TGF β (Xu et al 2009), transactivates the intracellular effectors of TGF β (Sauer et al 2004) or cooperates with TGF β to regulate gene expression (Wu et al 2011). However, little is known about whether TGF β communicates with LPA signal transduction to modify cellular responses to the multi-functional LPA. To explore this possibility, we treated the MDA-MB-231 breast carcinoma cell line and the SKOV-3 ovarian carcinoma cell line with TGF β for 3 or 6 hours, and monitored changes in mRNA expression of LPA signaling molecules including various LPA receptors. Interestingly, the treatment resulted in 67% and 48% decreases in LPA₁ mRNA levels in MDA-MB-231 and SKOV-3, respectively, as analyzed by RT and qPCR (Fig. 3.1A). TGF β did not decrease expression of other known LPA receptors in these cells (Fig. 3.1B)



Figure 3.1. TGF β inhibits expression of LPA₁ mRNA. *A*. MDA-MB-231 and SKOV-3 cells were cultured with TGF β (2.5 ng/ml) for 3 and 6 hours. LPA₁ mRNA levels were examined by RT and qPCR as described in Materials and Methods. The mRNA levels of LPA₁ in TGF β treated cells were presented as percentages relative to those in untreated control cells (defined as 100%). *B*. MDA-MB-231 and SKOV-3 cells were treated with TGF β (2.5 ng/ml) for 6 hours, LPA₁, LPA₂ and LPA₃ mRNA levels were examined using specific TaqMan probes as described in *A*.

To generalize the observation of the inhibitory effect of TGF β on LPA₁, we examined a panel of breast, ovarian and other cancer cell lines, including BT-549, Caov-3 and DOV-13. Treatment with TGF β induced 30-67% decreases in LPA₁ mRNA levels in these cell lines (Fig. 3.2A). Most of the cancer cell lines such as SK-BR-3, BT-549, SKOV-3 and DOV-13 were resistant to the growth inhibitory effect of TGF β as we reported recently (Wu et al 2011). Thus, the inhibition of LPA₁ expression by TGF β was independent of the cytostatic program of TGF β . In addition, TGF β also downregulated expression of LPA₁ in normal primary and immortalized epithelial cells such as primary mammary epithelial cells (1001-8), primary ovarian epithelial cells (NOE-71), immortalized breast epithelial cell line MCF-10A, and immortalized ovarian surface epithelial cell line IOSE-29 (Fig. 3.2A). The only exception to the negative regulation by TGF β was the DLD1 colon cell line. DLD1 was deficient in T β RII as reported previously (Markowitz et al 1995) and as evidenced by the inability of TGF β to induce Smad3 phosphorylation in this particular line (Fig. 3.2B). It is also worth noting that LPA₁ was highly expressed in DLD1 cells (Lee et al 2008, Shida et al 2003), likely as a result of the absence of TGF β -mediated repression.



Figure 3.2. TGF β inhibits expression of LPA₁ mRNA in all cancer cells with intact TGF β pathway. *A*. Multiple cancer cell lines, immortalized breast (MCF-10A) and ovarian (IOSE-29) epithelial cell lines, primary mammary (1001-8) and ovarian (NOE71) epithelial cells were treated for 6 hours with TGF β (2.5 ng/ml) and analyzed for LPA₁ mRNA expression as in *Fig.3.1*. *C*. All cell lines and primary cells were treated with TGF β (2.5 ng/ml) for 1 hour before lysis with SDS sample buffer and immunoblotting analysis of Smad3 phosphorylated at Ser423/425.

3.3.2 TGFβ attenuates LPA₁-dependent cell migration and invasion

Since TGF β represses LPA₁ expression, we anticipated that TGF β would attenuate LPA₁-dependent actions of LPA. Although each of the Edg-family LPA receptors may contribute to promoting cell motility in certain cellular contexts, substantial evidence supports an essential and probably sufficient role for LPA₁ in driving random migration, chemotaxis and tumor cell invasion (Hama et al 2004, Shida et al 2003, Van Leeuwen et al 2003). In breast and ovarian cancer cell lines that we examined (MDA-MB-231, SKOV-3, and DOV-13), LPA stimulated a robust chemotactic response as analyzed by the transwell assay (Fig. 3.3A). LPA also promoted invasion of these cells through Matrigel (Fig. 3.3B).



Figure 3.3. TGF β attenuates LPA₁-dependent cell migration and invasion. *A*. The chemotactic responses to TGF β (2.5 ng/ml), LPA (5 μ M), or LPA+TGF β in the breast cancer cell line MDA-MB-231, and the ovarian cancer cell lines SKOV-3 and DOV-13 were measured by transwell chambers. The cells (2 x 10⁴ cells/well) were loaded to the upper wells and allowed to migrate for 6 hours. The migrated cells on the underside of the Transwell were stained with crystal violet, counted under a microscope and presented as numbers of cells/well. *B*. Cell invasion induced by TGF β (2.5 ng/ml), LPA (5 μ M), or LPA+TGF β in MDA-MB-231, SKOV-3 and DOV-13 cells was measured with the growth factor–reduced Matrigel invasion chambers. The experiment was performed as the migration assay in *A* except that the cells were allowed to invade for 20 hours.

In agreement with the crucial role of LPA₁ in stimulation of cell motility, shRNA knockdown of the LPA₁ receptor expression or pharmacological inhibition of LPA₁ with Ki16425 blocked LPA-induced chemotaxis (Fig. 3.4A and B). On the other hand, TGF β only weakly increased migration of MDA-MB-231, SKOV-3 and DOV-13 cells (Fig. 3.3). This trend of increase in chemotactic migration towards TGF β was not statistically significant. However, TGF β was capable of stimulating modest but significant increases in invasion of SKOV-3 and DOV-13 cells (Fig. 3.3B). The ability of TGF β to stimulate invasion of breast and ovarian cancer cell lines was much weaker than that of the potent motogen LPA.



Figure 3.4. Important role of LPA₁ in mediating LPA induced cell migration. *A*. Expression of LPA₁ in MDA-MB-231 and SKOV-3 cells was silenced with lentivirally transduced shRNA. The chemotactic migration of these stable knockdown cells and control cells induced by LPA (5 μ M) was analyzed as described in *Figure 3.3A*. *D*. LPA-induced migration of MDA-MB-231 and SKOV-3 cells was analyzed in the presence of the LPA₁/LPA₃ specific antagonist Ki16425 (Ki) (10 μ M).

When MDA-MB-231, SKOV-3 and Dov-13 cells were co-stimulated with both LPA and TGF β , TGF β significantly inhibited LPA stimulation of migration and invasion. We observed 30-50% decreases in migration and 60-80% decreases in invasion in the presence of LPA and TGF β compared to the effects of LPA alone. Moreover, when pre-treated MDA-MB-231 and SKOV-3 cells with 2.5 ng/ml TGF β for 6 hours to achieve the downregulation of LPA₁, followed by migration (Fig. 3.5A) and invasion (Fig. 3.5B) assay only using LPA as motogen, we observed similar reductions in cell migration and invasion comparing with vehicle treated control cells. In all cell lines we examined, the TGF β mediated inhibition of invasion was more prominent than the effect of TGF β on migration. This was likely due to the longer incubation of the cells with TGF β during the invasion experiments. These data demonstrated that TGF β repression of LPA₁ expression was sufficient to impair LPA₁-dependent cell migration and invasion.



Figure 3.5. TGF β pre-treatment attenuates LPA₁-dependent cell migration and invasion. *A*. MDA-MB-231 and SKOV-3 cells were treated with TGF β (2.5 ng/ml) for 6 hours. LPA (5 μ M) was used to induce migration. Migration assays were performed as described in *Figure 3.3. B*. TGF β (2.5 ng/ml) pre-treated cell invasion induced by LPA (5 μ M) in MDA-MB-231 and SKOV-3 was measured with the growth factor–reduced Matrigel invasion chambers. The experiment was performed as the migration assay in *A* except that the cells were allowed to invade for 20 hours.

3.3.3 TGFβ represses LPA₁ expression and LPA₁-dependent cell migration and invasion in a Smad-dependent manner

Upon binding of TGFB to its receptors, both Smad-dependent and Smadindependent pathways are activated by the kinase activity of T β Rs (Derynck and Zhang 2003). Regulatory Smads (RSmads), such as Smad2 and Smad3, are phosphorylated by $T\beta Rs$, and form heterodimers with the co-Smad, Smad4, to translocate to the nucleus where the Smad complex regulates transcription of target genes (Massague et al 2005). In addition, TGF β activates T β R-associated proteins and other intracellular signaling pathways such as MAPK, PP2A/p70S6K, RhoA and TAK1/MEKK1 to elicit Smadindependent responses to TGF β (Seoane 2006). To elucidate the mechanism underlying TGF β repression of LPA₁, we examined the possibility for the participation of the Smaddependent pathway in the process. To this end, we first knocked down Smad3 expression in MDA-MB-231 and SKOV-3 cells using lentivirally transduced shRNA. Smad3, but not Smad2, was reported to be the R-Smad involved in binding to TIE to downregulate TGFβ target genes, most notably *c-Myc* (Chen et al 2002). Expression of Smad3 protein was efficiently silenced by Smad3 shRNA in these cell lines (Fig. 3.6A). The silencing of Smad3 expression eliminated the inhibitory effect of TGF β on expression of LPA₁ (Fig. 3.6B).



Figure 3.6. TGF β represses LPA₁ in a Smad3-dependent manner. *A*. Expression of Smad3 in MDA-MB-231 and SKOV-3 cells was silenced with lentivirally transduced shRNA. The Smad3 protein levels in shRNA knockdown cells and control shRNA transduced cells were examined by immunoblotting. *B*. Smad3 shRNA and control shRNA-transduced MDA-MB-231 and SKOV-3 cells were treated with or without TGF β (2.5 ng/ml) for 6 hours prior to RT and qPCR analysis of LPA₁ mRNA levels.

To determine the role of Smad3 in TGF β repression of LPA-driven cell motility, we performed migration and invasion assays in these cells. In Smad3 knockdown cells, TGF β no longer inhibited LPA-driven cell migration (Fig. 3.7A) or invasion (Fig. 3.7B). These results suggest a Smad3-dependent mechanism to control LPA₁ expression and LPA₁-linked migration and invasion. In further support of this, Smad3 knockdown was accompanied by considerable increases in basal LPA₁ mRNA levels (Fig. 3.6B) as well as in basal and LPA-induced cell migration and invasion (Fig. 3.7A and B). Likewise, shRNA knockdown of the co-Smad, Smad4 in these cells abrogated the inhibitory effects of TGF β on LPA₁ mRNA expression and LPA₁-dependent cell migration (Fig. 3.8).



Figure 3.7. Knockdown of Smad3 abolished the inhibitory effect of TGF β in LPAinduced cell motility. LPA-mediated chemotactic migration (*A*) and invasion (*B*) of control and Smad3 knockdown MDA-MB-231 and SKOV-3 cells were analyzed in the absence or presence of TGF β (2.5 ng/ml). Data was presented as described in *Fig* **3.3.**



Figure 3.8. Knockdown of Smad4 abolished the inhibitory effect of TGF β in LPAinduced cell motility. *A*. Smad4 knockdown efficiency was analyzed with immunoblotting. *B*. Smad4 shRNA and control shRNA-transduced cells were treated with or without TGF β (2.5 ng/ml) for 6 hours prior to RT and qPCR analysis of LPA₁ mRNA levels. *C*. LPA-mediated chemotactic migration of control and Smad4 knockdown cells were analyzed in the absence or presence of TGF β (2.5 ng/ml). Data was presented as described in Fig 3.3.

3.3.4 The LPA₁ gene promoter contains two potential TIEs

The TGF β -Smad pathway both activates and represses gene transcription. There is a long list of TGF β activated targets such as type I collagen and the cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitors p21^{Waf1} and p15^{Ink4b}. Conversely, only a few TGF β -repressed genes have been well defined with c-Myc and Id1 being the best characterized. As mentioned in

Chapter 1, the co-repressors for two TGF β target genes *c-Myc* and *Id1* have been identified. In the case of c-Myc, Smad3 forms a complex with E2F4/5-p107 in the cytosol and translocates into nucleus with Smad4 when Smad3 is phosphorylated by the active T β Rs (Chen et al 2002). The complex binds to a Smad binding element right next to an E2F binding site. For inhibition of Id1, the co-repressor ATF3 binds with Smads in the nucleus, consequently the repressor complex binds to a Smad binding element adjacent to a CREB binding site (Kang et al 2003).

Analysis of the human LPA_1 gene promoter sequences revealed the presence of two potential TIEs, one located at -401 (designated -401 TIE) and the other at -40 (designated -40 TIE) from the transcription initiation site (see sequence details in Fig. 3.9A). The composite TIE consisting of Smad and E2F4/5 binding sites was present only in the LPA_1 gene promoter but not in the promoters of other LPA receptors (LPA₂₋₆). Between these two TIEs, there are also an SBE (-324 GTCT -321) and a possible ATF site (-348 TGACGCTC -341) with 5 out of 8 nucleotides matching with the ATF consensus sequence (TGACGTCA).

3.3.4 TGFβ represses the transcriptional activity of the LPA₁ gene promoter

In an effort to identify the co-repressor for the TGF β -Smad pathway to control LPA₁ expression, we cloned a 1242-bp fragment of the *LPA₁* gene promoter (-1156 to +86) into pGL2-Basic-Luc vector to construct pGL2-LPA₁-Luc. MDA-MB-231 and SKOV-3 cells were transfected with pGL2-LPA₁-Luc and cultured with or without TGF β for 16 hours before measurement of luciferase activity in cell lysates. TGF β treatment

resulted in a modest but consistent decrease in luciferase activity (Fig. 3.9B). Deletion of the proximal -401 TIE (named del in Fig. 3.9B) at -366 abolished the negative effect of TGF β on the *LPA*₁ promoter-driven luciferase activity (Fig. 3.9B), suggesting that the deleted sequence containing the -401 TIE rather than the potential SBE-ATF3 or the further downstream -40 TIE is the major site for TGF β repression of *LPA*₁ transcription. Indeed, similar to the deletion mutant, point mutation of the -401 TIE (GGCT<u>TTGG</u>CGCG to GGCT<u>AATT</u>CGCGC) also eliminated the repressive effect of TGF β on the *LPA*₁ promoter activity. However, mutation of the -40 TIE (GGC<u>TTCG</u>CGCC to GGC<u>AATT</u>CGCC) only slightly reduced the effect of TGF β , which was statistically insignificant. Taken together, these experiments indicate that the -401 TIE site is required for TGF β -Smad mediated repression of the *LPA*₁ gene.



Figure 3.9. TGF β represses the transcriptional activity of the *LPA*₁ gene promoter containing TIEs. *A*. DNA sequences of two potential TIEs of the human *LPA*₁ promoter were compared with that of the *c-myc* TIE (*A*, *upper panel*). The potential Smad and E2F4/5 binding sites are underlined. Lower case in the TIE consensus sequence suggests for preferred nucleotide. The *LPA*₁ promoter (-1156 to +86) was cloned into pGL2-Basic-Luc to constructed the pGL2-LPA₁-Luc luciferase reporter (WT) (*A*, *lower panel*). The deletion (del) and point mutations of each TIE (-401 Mut and -40 Mut) were made as described in Materials and Methods. *B*. MDA-MB-231 and SKOV-3 cells were transfected with the indicated plasmids and cultured with or without TGF β for 16 hours before luciferase activities were determined. The results were presented as percentages relative to the values of the cells cultured without TGF β (defined as 100%).

3.3.5 Smad complex binds to the -401 TIE of the LPA₁ promoter

To determine whether the Smad complex binds to the LPA_1 promoter at the -401 TIE, we performed a DNA pull-down assay using biotinylated double-stranded oligonucleotides corresponding to the sequences between -413 and -378 that included the -401 TIE of the LPA_1 promoter. MDA-MB-231 and SKOV-3 cells were treated for 1 hour with TGF β or vehicle. The 36-bp DNA fragment was incubated with cell lysates to allow binding and precipitating Smad3, Smad4 and E2F4 as detailed in Materials and Methods. As demonstrated in Fig. 3.10, co-precipitated Smad3, Smad4 and E2F4 were detected from TGF β -treated cells but not from vehicle-treated control cells, suggesting that the 36-bp DNA fragment is capable of binding active Smad3 and E2F4.



Figure 3.10. TGF β induces occupancy of the Smad complex to the LPA₁ gene promoter. Cell extracts from MDA-MB-231 and SKOV-3 cells untreated or treated with TGF β (2.5 ng/ml) for 1 hour were incubated with biotinylated DNA fragment containing the -401 TIE and strepatavidin beads. The DNA precipitates (DNAP) were subjected to western blot analysis for Smad3 and E2F4. Whole cell lysates was included in western blots (WCL) as input.

To determine if TGF β induces Smad3, Smad4 and E2F4 binding to the native -401 TIE region of the LPA₁ promoter, we performed ChIP assays in MDA-MB-231 and SKOV-3 cells. The efficiency of anti-Smad3, anti-Smad4 or anti-E2F4 antibody to precipitate cellular Smad3, Smad4 or E2F4 was illustrated in Fig. 3.11A. qPCR analysis of Smad3 immunoprecipitates from MDA-MB-231 and SKOV-3 cells showed that TGF^β induced 3.8- and 3.7-fold increases in Smad3 binding as well as 21.3-fold and 3.9-fold increase inSmad4 binding to the -401 TIE (Fig. 3.11B). We also observed increases (2.0 and 1.8 fold) in Smad3 binding to the -40 TIE in MDA-MB-231 and SKOV-3, respectively, however there was no significant increase of Smad4 binding to -40 TIE. Thus TGF β induced physical binding of activated Smad3 and Smad4 to the -401 TIE and to a lesser extent, to the -40 TIE of the LPA_1 promoter. The binding of E2F4, another partner of the Smad complex, to the -401 TIE also increased to 2.5 and 2.7 fold following TGFβ treatment of MDA-MB-231 and SKOV-3 cells. However, no significant increase in binding of E2F4 to the -40 TIE in TGFβ-treated MDA-MB-231 cells was observed. In these ChIP experiments, the binding of Smad3, Smad4 and E2F4 to the c-Myc TIE sequences in SKOV-3 cells was included as internal positive controls. It has been reported no TGF_β-mediated repression of c-Myc was found in MDA-MB-231 cells (Chen et al 2001); therefore, we used binding of Smad3 and Smad4 to PAI-1 SBE as the positive control. In summary, these experiments provide mechanistic insight into the TGF β -mediated repression of LPA₁ transcription and LPA₁-linked biological activities.



Figure 3.11. TGF β induces occupancy of the Smad complex to the LPA₁ gene promoter. ChIP assays were performed to examine the binding of Smad3 and E2F4 to the -40 and -401 TIEs of the *LPA*₁ promoter and to the *c-myc* TIE (positive controls). The immunoprecipitation of Smad3 and E2F4 was verified by western blotting analysis of immunoprecipitates (IP) and cell lysates (WCL). The binding was quantitated by qPCR using SYBR Green and the specific primers listed in Table 1. The results were normalized to the Ct values of inputs and presented as percentages of inputs. Blank: not detectable.

3.4 Discussion

In the present study, we showed that the LPA_I gene is a target of TGF β -mediated repression. This inhibitory effect of TGF β on LPA₁ expression is detected in both normal and neoplastic cells with intact T β Rs and Smad signaling. Importantly, the inhibition of LPA₁ by TGF β is sufficient to suppress the LPA₁-dependent migratory response to LPA. The detailed analysis of the underlying mechanism indicates that TGF β triggers downregulation of LPA₁ through activation of Smad and binding of the Smads-E2F4 complex to the -401 TIE of the *LPA₁* gene promoter, a process analogous to the welldefined mode of repression of c-Myc by TGF β (Chen et al 2002).

Among the multiple LPA receptors, LPA₁ is the only receptor subtype transcriptionally repressed by the TGF β -Smad signaling. In TGF β -challenged cells, Smad3 forms a large complex with E2F4/5-p107 and Smad4 in the cytoplasm, translocates to the nucleus and binds to the TIE motif where the complex recruits HDAC and silences gene expression (Li et al 1997). Hence both Smad binding site and the conjugated E2F4/5 element are instrumental to TGF β repression of target genes (Chen et al 2002). Extensive analysis of the promoter sequences of other LPA receptors does not reveal TIE consensus sequence or SBEs in the *LPA*₄ and *LPA*₅ promoters. There are putative SBEs in the *LPA*₂, *LPA*₃, and *LPA*₆ promoter sequences. However, none of these SBEs is closely linked to a nearby E2F4/5 binding site or to an ATF3 site. It is intriguing that the two TIE sites of the *LPA*₁ gene promoter do not function equally. The -401 TIE was identified to be the major one for Smad-mediated repression of LPA₁ while the contribution of the -40 TIE was negligible. This difference could be attributed to the fact that only 4 out of 11 nucleotides match with the consensus E2F4/5 sequence at the -40 TIE while the -401 TIE matches the consensus at 9 out of 11 nucleotides. Alternatively, the TIE location relative to the transcriptional initiation site or other regulatory sequences beyond the TIE sites could influence the interaction with the Smad complex and the transcriptional repression. These possibilities could also explain the irrelevance of the possible SBE-ATF3 between the two TIEs.

The biological function of LPA₁ has been a subject of extensive studies in both *in* vitro cell culture and genetic animal models (Santin et al 2009, Shida et al 2003). Compared to other LPA receptors, LPA₁ is most widely expressed (Matas-Rico et al 2008). The nearly ubiquitous distribution of LPA₁ has led to the assumption that LPA₁ is constitutively expressed. However, a few recent studies have hinted at the regulation of LPA₁ by intracellular and extracellular cues (Horak et al 2007a, Stadler et al 2006, Xing et al 2004). The most exciting observation is that LPA_1 is one of the target genes repressed by the metastatic tumor suppressor Nm23 (Marshall et al 2010). Another study showed that germline polymorphism of fibroblast growth factor receptor 4 (FGFR4) at residue 388 (G388R) correlates with enhancement of LPA₁ expression and more aggressive migratory and invasive responses to LPA in tumors carrying R388 FGFR4 (Sugiyama et al 2010). Although LPA₁ expression may indeed be regulated by Nm23 and FGFR4, it is not known whether or how these modulators affect transcription, stability or translation of LPA₁. The results from the current study represent the first example that an endogenous factor transcriptionally restrains expression of LPA1 and LPA1-dependent cellular effects.

The roles of LPA and LPA receptors in cancer have drawn considerable attention in recent years. The LPA₂ receptor is overexpressed in ovarian, breast, thyroid and rectal colon cancers (Hendrix et al 2006, Radvanyi et al 2005, Sanchez-Carbayo et al 2006, Skrzypczak et al 2010, Su et al 2007). The transgenic and knockout mouse models further support an oncogenic role of LPA₂ (Huang et al 2004, Lin et al 2009). Expression of LPA₁, on the other hand, does not show consensus increases from normal to malignant phenotypes. Instead, several independent groups have reported a tendency of downregulation of LPA₁ in diverse cancers (Hendrix et al 2006, Murph et al 2008, Sanchez-Carbayo et al 2006, Shida et al 2004b, Skrzypczak et al 2010, Su et al 2007) in sharp contrast to the upregulation of LPA₂ in malignant diseases. The findings of the current study offer a plausible explanation to this phenomenon. The enhanced TGF β signaling during cancer development and progression may serve as a repressor of expression of LPA₁ but not other LPA receptors.

TGF β controls a multitude of biological activities in mammalian cells. It inhibits proliferation of epithelial cells and thus plays a part in early tumor suppression. However, TGF β frequently fails to induce growth arrest in transformed epithelial cells. Instead, TGF β stimulates migration and invasion of cancer cells, thereby promoting the metastatic potential in advanced cancer (Bierie and Moses 2006). This presumed effect of TGF β on tumor cell invasion and metastasis is largely based on *in vitro* assays involving only TGF β as a motogen (Seton-Rogers et al 2004, Yang et al 2008). The conclusion may not truly reflect the physiological role of TGF β in *in vivo* conditions where tumor cells are exposed to a complex mix of multiple chemokines, cytokines, nutrients and growth factors. We found in the current study that the effects of TGF β on cell motility could be opposite under different conditions. In the cancer cell lines we tested, TGF β itself was a weak stimulus of tumor cell invasion. In the presence of LPA, however, the role of TGF β was reversed, counteracting the strong motogenic activity of LPA. Since both TGF β and LPA are present in the circulation and malignant effusions, TGF β probably acts as a negative regulator of cell motility in physiological and pathophysiological conditions. By extension, the findings of the current work underscore the importance of crosstalk between LPA and other coexisting factors in coordination of the overall cellular responses.

CHAPTER 4

GENERAL DISCCUSION

Uncontrolled cell proliferation is a hallmark of cancer. A major drive behind the uncontrolled proliferation of cancer cells is the activation of growth factor pathways. Activation of oncogenes and inactivation of tumor suppressors could also sensitize cells to growth stimuli. A prototype growth factor pathway involved in promotion of mammalian cell growth is the EGF-EGFR system (Paez et al 2004). Substantial evidence suggests overexpression or genetic mutations of EGFR in significant percentages of human malignancies, 69% in nonsmall cell lung cancer NSCLC (da Cunha Santos et al 2011), 50% in breast cancer (Teng et al 2011) and 55%-98% in advanced ovarian carcinoma (Mustea 2006). In breast and ovarian cancers, HER2, another member of the EGFR family, is also abnormally overexpressed or activated in up to 30% breast and ovarian cancers, resulting in more aggressive tumor behaviors and poor prognosis (Tan and Yu 2007). Recently, the anti-EGFR or HER2 small inhibitors and antibodies have been used alone or in combination with chemotherapies for treatment of a variety of solid tumors with significant improvement of patient survivals, confirming the importance of

the EGFR family in maintaining cancer cell growth and survival (Ciardiello and Tortora 2008).

In contrast to these receptor tyrosine kinases (RTKs), the significance of GPCR, the largest family of cell surface receptors, in regulation of cancer cells has not been as well appreciated although significant evidence exists that many GPCR/ligand systems stimulate proliferation of normal and neoplastic cells. The lysophospholipid mediators LPA and S1P represent the most characterized and important growth-promoting ligands acting through GPCRs. Our group was the first to describe overexpression of the LPA_2 and LPA₃ receptors in ovarian cancer (Fang et al 2004). The overexpression of LPA₂ has since been extended by independent studies to many other types of malignant diseases including breast cancer, colorectal cancer, gastric cancer, pancreatic cancer, and differentiated thyroid cancer (Hendrix et al 2006, Radvanyi et al 2005, Sanchez-Carbayo et al 2006, Skrzypczak et al 2010, Su et al 2007). However, it remains unknown how LPA mediates oncogenic processes. Substantial studies suggest that crosstalk between LPA and EGFR or other RTKs plays a role in eliciting the proliferative effect of LPA. Specifically, LPA transactivates EGFR through production or release of EGFR ligands or through EGFR ligand-independent interactions between EGFR and GPCR signals. Thus activation of LPA receptor signal transduction could partially contribute to the constitutive activity of EGFR to promote proliferation and aggressiveness of cancer cells. However, this possibility does not exclude EGFR-independent contribution of LPA as many oncogenic actions of LPA are more robust than those emanating from direct ligand activation of EGFR as we reported recently (Oyesanya et al 2010, Wu et al 2011).

In addition to the highly proliferative potential driven by signals from RTKs or GPCRs, cancer cells may evade growth inhibitory action of TGF β and the TGF β family members (e.g. BMPs, activin). In normal epithelial cells, TGF β exerts its cytostatic action through T β R and T β R-activated Smad pathways to induce expression of CDK inhibitors such as p21, p15 and p27 and to suppress expression of the growth-promoting c-Myc. However, the cytostatic response to TGF β is reduced or lost in most malignancies. Previous studies have identified partial mechanisms for the aberrant TGF β responses in cancer, such as genetic mutation or deletion of components of the TGF β -Smad pathway, and abnormal expression or functionality of negative regulators of the TGF β -Smad pathway and critical transcription factors involved in TGF β regulation of gene expression. However, these genetic and epigenetic defects are not common in diverse human tumors and cannot explain the general compromise of TGF β growth inhibitory response, particularly in breast and ovarian cancer cells.

In order to identify the common mechanism underlying the defective TGF β responses in breast and ovarian cancer cells, the first part of this dissertation study was designed to determine whether the cellular response to TGF β was influenced by other extracellular factors co-present with TGF β in tumor microenvironments. LPA is a ubiquitous growth factor present in serum, could be replenished in serum through serum-borne enzyme autotaxin or produced by tumor cells in culture. Our original hypothesis was that the abnormally active LPA signaling might confer overwhelmingly strong proliferative cues beyond the capacity of the TGF β to overcome. However, our data demonstrates that the mitogenic activity of LPA does not contribute to the resistance of

breast and ovarian cancer cells to TGF β . LPA shows a general mitogenic activity towards both TGF β -sensitive and resistant breast and ovarian cancer cells. Instead, we observed a correlation of TGF β responsiveness with LPA induction of p21 in breast and ovarian cancer cell lines. The CDK inhibitor p21 is a well-known TGFβ cytostatic response gene. Surprisingly, TGF β alone only weakly induces p21 expression even in the TGF β responsive breast and ovarian cancer cell lines. Only in the presence of serum or serumborne LPA, a full-magnitude elevation of p21 expression is observed. We further confirmed that LPA acts in concert with TGF β in inducing p21 expression. Downregulation of p21 induction by p21 siRNA in TGFβ-responsive cells or induction of p21 with other known stimuli such as TPA in TGFβ-resistant cells leads to reversal of responsiveness to TGF β . Hence, the combined effect of LPA and TGF β on p21 induction is critical to TGF β -mediated growth inhibition in TGF β -sensitive breast and ovarian cancer cells. On the contrary, in the TGF β -resistant cells, LPA does not stimulate p21 expression or cooperates with TGF β to induce p21. Therefore, lack of p21 inducibility by LPA is potentially linked to the loss or impairment of the cytostatic response to $TGF\beta$ seen in many breast and ovarian cancers.

It remains to be determined how LPA induction of p21 is differentially regulated between TGF β -sensitive and resistant cells. In our experiments, LPA induces p21 expression through LPA₁ and LPA₂ receptors. Knockdown of LPA₁ or LPA₂ partially compromises p21 expression induced by LPA. Since both of these receptors are present in most breast and ovarian cancer cell lines irrespective of their TGF β response statuses, it is unlikely LPA₁ and LPA₂ levels are primary determinants of the differential p21 induction in these cells. The Erk activation is also a generic response to LPA among breast and ovarian cancer cell lines. In our study, we further demonstrate that the C/EBP β transcription factor downstream of Erk mediates p21 induction by LPA. Coincidently, C/EBP β is a transcription factor crucial to induction of another TGF β cytostatic gene p15 (Gartel and Tyner 1999). In metastatic breast cancer cells, the transcriptional activity of C/EBP β is inhibited by an excess of LIP (liver inhibitory protein), an inhibitory, truncated form of C/EBP β . It is possible that the presence of high levels of endogenous LIP could prevent LPA-induced p21 expression and TGF β cytostatic response. It will be of interest to examine expression of LIP in TGF β -resistant versus sensitive breast and ovarian cancer cells.

Another important observation made from the first part of my study is that p21 is essential but not sufficient to render breast and ovarian cancer cells sensitive to TGF β . LPA alone induces significant expression of p21 in TGF β -sensitive MBA-MB-231 and Caov-3 cells, which is associated with growth promotion rather than inhibition. In TGF β resistant breast and ovarian cancer cell lines, TPA by itself induces p21 expression but does not affect proliferation of these cells. These results suggest that another TGF β mediated effector cooperates with increased p21 to halt cell cycle progression. This is consistent with the fact that the TGF β -resistant breast and ovarian cancer cell lines we examined also possess functional T β Rs and Smad3 signaling. In these otherwise TGF β resistant cells, the cytostatic sensitivity to TGF β could be reconstituted through TGF β independent induction or activation of p21. Therefore, in the future, p21 activating or inducing agents could be pursued in conjunction with TGF β to develop new therapies against breast and ovarian cancer.

In the second part of this study, we extended to examine the crosstalk between LPA and TGF β in modulation of cell migration and invasion. Activation of tumor cell motility is one of the critical steps leading to tumor invasion and distant metastasis. Different from the cooperative effects of LPA and TGF β on p21 induction to control cell proliferation, TGF β dramatically antagonizes LPA-induced migration and invasion of breast and ovarian cancer cells. A 30-50% decrease in migration and 60-80% reduction in invasion are observed in the presence of TGF β although TGF β alone weakly promotes cell migration and invasion of breast and ovarian cancer cell migration and invasion of breast and ovarian cancer cell lines. The inhibitory effect of TGF β on LPA-dependent cell migration and invasion is manifest in all cancer cell lines with functional T β Rs and Smad3 including those resistant to cytostatic effect of TGF β , suggesting that TGF β down-regulates the motogenic activity of LPA via a mechanism independent of the cytostatic effectors of TGF β .

LPA stimulates cell motility through activation of Rac and Rho in a coordinate manner. Rac promotes lamellipodia protrusion and forward movement, whereas RhoA regulates actomyosin-driven cytoskeleton contraction and detachment of the rear of migrating cells. Since LPA₁ plays a primary role in LPA stimulation of Rac and Rho and the subsequent migration and invasion (Van Leeuwen et al 2003), we tested the possibility that TGF β may repress expression of LPA₁ to inhibit LPA-induced cell motility. The qPCR analysis of multiple breast and ovarian cancer cell lines as well as their normal and immortalized epithelial counterparts show that TGF β treatment induces 30-70% decreases in LPA₁ mRNA. The TGF β -induced downregulation of LPA₁ is further supported by a coincident finding of microarray analysis from our collaborator Dr. Deborah Lebman that LPA₁ mRNA is inhibited by TGF β treatment of the OE33 esophageal cancer cell line. In the literature, a microarray study of TGF β transcriptome in human pituitary cells also revealed that LPA₁ is one of 109 genes repressed by TGF β although the finding was not validated or pursued by individual gene expression and function analyses (Ruebel et al 2008).

We next explored how TGF β represses LPA₁ expression. In contrast to wellstudied SBE-dependent gene activation by TGF β , the molecular mechanism for TGF β mediated gene repression is only partially understood through studies of two prototype genes repressed by TGF β , namely c-Myc and Id1. The *c-Myc* gene p1 promoter contains TIE element made of an SBE and a closely linked E2F4/5 cis element that allows binding of the Smad3/4-E2F4/5-p107 complex to limit transcription of *c-Myc*. TGF β inhibition of *Id1* is executed through binding of the Smad-ATF3 complex to an SBE site and a nearby CREB element on the *Id1* promoter. Interestingly, the *LPA*₁ gene promoter contains two putative TIE sites (-401 TIE and -40 TIE), each consisting of an SBE site and a flanking E2F4/5 element, analogous to TIE present on the *c-Myc* gene promoter. As described in detail in Chapter 3, we demonstrated that TGF β represses LPA₁ transcription through binding of the Smad3/4-E2F4/5-p107 complex to the -401 TIE of the *LPA*₁ gene promoter. The proximal -40 TIE does not seem to be involved in TGF β repression of LPA₁ transcription. The conclusion is drawn from substantial evidence from multiple molecular approaches including luciferase reporter assay, site-directed mutagenesis of the TIEs, TIE DNA precipitation of cellular Smads and E2F4 protein, ChIP assays of TGF β -induced recruitment of the Smad3/4-E2F4 complex to the native -401 TIE sequence of the LPA₁ promoter, and shRNA knockdown of Smads.

The identification of LPA₁ as a novel physiological target of TGF β -mediated repression is a significant advance in LPA biology. Little is known about how LPA₁ is transcriptionally regulated. Our results provide the first mechanistic insight into transcriptional control of LPA₁. Different from LPA₂ that is generally overexpressed in cancer, LPA₁ is down-regulated in a variety of cancer lineages including ovarian, bladder, colorectal and breast cancers (Hendrix et al 2006, Murph et al 2008, Sanchez-Carbayo et al 2006, Shida et al 2004b, Skrzypczak et al 2010, Su et al 2007). The TGF β repression of LPA₁ may offer a plausible explanation of the cancer-associated downregulation of LPA₁. Despite the common loss of the cytostatic response to TGF β , most cancer cells exhibit intact T β Rs and Smad signaling, which could lead to transcriptional repression of LPA₁, in particular when TGF β levels are elevated in advanced cancers.

Furthermore, TGF β repression of LPA₁ is functionally sufficient to inhibit LPA₁dependent cell migration and invasion. This observation sheds new light on the physiological role of TGF β in regulation of tumor cell invasion and metastasis. TGF β has been shown to positively regulate tumor cell motility. In our hands, we detected a weak and sometimes statistically insignificant migratory activity of TGF β in breast and ovarian cancer cell lines. However, the activity of TGF β is minimal compared to that of LPA. Given the fact that these two factors are elevated and co-present in tumor microenvironments, TGF β most likely neutralizes the robust migratory activity of LPA and therefore may function to prevent tumor cell invasion and metastasis in vivo. This argument, however, is contrary to the current dogma in the field of TGF β biology. The evidence for the pro-metastatic role of TGF β has been largely derived from analysis of TGF β alone in *in vitro* migration and invasion assays. The results of the present study underscore the need to revisit these effects of TGF β in more physiologically relevant conditions or using *in vivo* models. As a general rule, the interactions among coexisting chemokines, cytokines, growth factors and nutrients should be taken into consideration during functional analysis of biological factors.

REFERENCES

An S, Bleu T, Hallmark OG, Goetzl EJ (1998). Characterization of a novel subtype of human G protein-coupled receptor for lysophosphatidic acid. *J Biol Chem* **273**: 7906-7910.

Anliker B, Chun J (2004). Lysophospholipid G protein-coupled receptors. *J Biol Chem* **279**: 20555-20558.

Annes JP, Munger JS, Rifkin DB (2003). Making sense of latent TGFbeta activation. J Cell Sci 116: 217-224.

Aoki J, Taira A, Takanezawa Y, Kishi Y, Hama K, Kishimoto T *et al* (2002). Serum lysophosphatidic acid is produced through diverse phospholipase pathways. *J Biol Chem* **277**: 48737-48744.

Aoki J (2004). Mechanisms of lysophosphatidic acid production. *Semin Cell Dev Biol* **15**: 477-489.

Aoki J, Inoue A, Okudaira S (2008). Two pathways for lysophosphatidic acid production. *Biochim Biophys Acta* **1781:** 513-518.
Auersperg N, Maines-Bandiera SL, Dyck HG, Kruk PA (1994). Characterization of cultured human ovarian surface epithelial cells: phenotypic plasticity and premalignant changes. *Lab Invest* **71**: 510-518.

Bandoh K, Aoki J, Hosono H, Kobayashi S, Kobayashi T, Murakami-Murofushi K *et al* (1999). Molecular cloning and characterization of a novel human G-protein-coupled receptor, EDG7, for lysophosphatidic acid. *J Biol Chem* **274**: 27776-27785.

Bar-Sagi D, Hall A (2000). Ras and Rho GTPases: a family reunion. Cell 103: 227-238.

Barcellos-Hoff MH, Dix TA (1996). Redox-mediated activation of latent transforming growth factor-beta 1. *Mol Endocrinol* **10:** 1077-1083.

Barcellos-Hoff MH, Ewan KB (2000). Transforming growth factor-beta and breast cancer: Mammary gland development. *Breast Cancer Res* **2**: 92-99.

Bektas M, Payne SG, Liu H, Goparaju S, Milstien S, Spiegel S (2005). A novel acylglycerol kinase that produces lysophosphatidic acid modulates cross talk with EGFR in prostate cancer cells. *J Cell Biol* **169**: 801-811.

Bierie B, Moses HL (2006). Tumour microenvironment: TGFbeta: the molecular Jekyll and Hyde of cancer. *Nat Rev Cancer* **6**: 506-520.

Birchenall-Roberts MC, Ruscetti FW, Kasper J, Lee HD, Friedman R, Geiser A *et al* (1990). Transcriptional regulation of the transforming growth factor beta 1 promoter by v-src gene products is mediated through the AP-1 complex. *Mol Cell Biol* **10**: 4978-4983.

Blount AL, Vaughan JM, Vale WW, Bilezikjian LM (2008). A Smad-binding element in intron 1 participates in activin-dependent regulation of the follistatin gene. *J Biol Chem* **283:** 7016-7026.

Brugarolas J, Moberg K, Boyd SD, Taya Y, Jacks T, Lees JA (1999). Inhibition of cyclin-dependent kinase 2 by p21 is necessary for retinoblastoma protein-mediated G1 arrest after gamma-irradiation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **96**: 1002-1007.

Cabello-Verrugio C, Cordova G, Vial C, Zuniga LM, Brandan E (2011). Connective tissue growth factor induction by lysophosphatidic acid requires transactivation of transforming growth factor type beta receptors and the JNK pathway. *Cell Signal* **23**: 449-457.

Chan DW, Yu SY, Chiu PM, Yao KM, Liu VW, Cheung AN *et al* (2008). Overexpression of FOXM1 transcription factor is associated with cervical cancer progression and pathogenesis. *J Pathol* **215**: 245-252.

Chen CR, Kang Y, Massague J (2001). Defective repression of c-myc in breast cancer cells: A loss at the core of the transforming growth factor beta growth arrest program. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **98**: 992-999.

Chen CR, Kang Y, Siegel PM, Massague J (2002). E2F4/5 and p107 as Smad cofactors linking the TGFbeta receptor to c-myc repression. *Cell* **110**: 19-32.

Chen H, Wu X, Pan ZK, Huang S (2010). Integrity of SOS1/EPS8/ABI1 tri-complex determines ovarian cancer metastasis. *Cancer Res* **70**: 9979-9990.

Chen M, Towers LN, O'Connor KL (2007). LPA2 (EDG4) mediates Rho-dependent chemotaxis with lower efficacy than LPA1 (EDG2) in breast carcinoma cells. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol* **292:** C1927-1933.

Cheng M, Olivier P, Diehl JA, Fero M, Roussel MF, Roberts JM *et al* (1999). The p21(Cip1) and p27(Kip1) CDK 'inhibitors' are essential activators of cyclin D-dependent kinases in murine fibroblasts. *Embo J* **18**: 1571-1583.

Choi JW, Herr DR, Noguchi K, Yung YC, Lee CW, Mutoh T *et al* (2010). LPA receptors: subtypes and biological actions. *Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol* **50**: 157-186.

Ciardiello F, Tortora G (2008). EGFR antagonists in cancer treatment. *N Engl J Med* **358:** 1160-1174.

Contos JJ, Chun J (2000). Genomic characterization of the lysophosphatidic acid receptor gene, lp(A2)/Edg4, and identification of a frameshift mutation in a previously characterized cDNA. *Genomics* **64**: 155-169.

Contos JJ, Fukushima N, Weiner JA, Kaushal D, Chun J (2000a). Requirement for the lpA1 lysophosphatidic acid receptor gene in normal suckling behavior. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **97:** 13384-13389.

Contos JJ, Ishii I, Chun J (2000b). Lysophosphatidic acid receptors. *Mol Pharmacol* **58**: 1188-1196.

Contos JJ, Ishii I, Fukushima N, Kingsbury MA, Ye X, Kawamura S *et al* (2002). Characterization of lpa(2) (Edg4) and lpa(1)/lpa(2) (Edg2/Edg4) lysophosphatidic acid receptor knockout mice: signaling deficits without obvious phenotypic abnormality attributable to lpa(2). *Mol Cell Biol* **22**: 6921-6929.

Cook SJ, McCormick F (1996). Kinetic and biochemical correlation between sustained p44ERK1 (44 kDa extracellular signal-regulated kinase 1) activation and lysophosphatidic acid-stimulated DNA synthesis in Rat-1 cells. *Biochem J* **320** (**Pt 1**): 237-245.

da Cunha Santos G, Shepherd FA, Tsao MS (2011). EGFR mutations and lung cancer. *Annu Rev Pathol* **6:** 49-69.

de Caestecker MP, Piek E, Roberts AB (2000). Role of transforming growth factor-beta signaling in cancer. *J Natl Cancer Inst* **92:** 1388-1402.

Deckers M, van Dinther M, Buijs J, Que I, Lowik C, van der Pluijm G *et al* (2006). The tumor suppressor Smad4 is required for transforming growth factor beta-induced epithelial to mesenchymal transition and bone metastasis of breast cancer cells. *Cancer Res* **66**: 2202-2209.

Derynck R, Jarrett JA, Chen EY, Eaton DH, Bell JR, Assoian RK *et al* (1985). Human transforming growth factor-beta complementary DNA sequence and expression in normal and transformed cells. *Nature* **316**: 701-705.

Derynck R, Akhurst RJ, Balmain A (2001). TGF-beta signaling in tumor suppression and cancer progression. *Nat Genet* **29**: 117-129.

Derynck R, Zhang YE (2003). Smad-dependent and Smad-independent pathways in TGF-beta family signalling. *Nature* **425**: 577-584.

Dieterich M, Goodman SN, Rojas-Corona RR, Emralino AB, Jimenez-Joseph D, Sherman ME (1994). Multivariate analysis of prognostic features in malignant pleural effusions from breast cancer patients. *Acta Cytol* **38**: 945-952.

Du J, Sun C, Hu Z, Yang Y, Zhu Y, Zheng D *et al* (2010). Lysophosphatidic acid induces MDA-MB-231 breast cancer cells migration through activation of PI3K/PAK1/ERK signaling. *PLoS One* **5**: e15940.

Eberhardt C, Gray PW, Tjoelker LW (1997). Human lysophosphatidic acid acyltransferase. cDNA cloning, expression, and localization to chromosome 9q34.3. *J Biol Chem* **272**: 20299-20305.

Ebisawa T, Fukuchi M, Murakami G, Chiba T, Tanaka K, Imamura T *et al* (2001). Smurf1 interacts with transforming growth factor-beta type I receptor through Smad7 and induces receptor degradation. *J Biol Chem* **276**: 12477-12480.

Eichholtz T, Jalink K, Fahrenfort I, Moolenaar WH (1993). The bioactive phospholipid lysophosphatidic acid is released from activated platelets. *Biochem J* **291** (**Pt 3**): 677-680.

Etienne-Manneville S, Hall A (2002). Rho GTPases in cell biology. Nature 420: 629-635.

Fang X, Gaudette D, Furui T, Mao M, Estrella V, Eder A *et al* (2000a). Lysophospholipid growth factors in the initiation, progression, metastases, and management of ovarian cancer. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* **905**: 188-208.

Fang X, Yu S, LaPushin R, Lu Y, Furui T, Penn LZ *et al* (2000b). Lysophosphatidic acid prevents apoptosis in fibroblasts via G(i)-protein-mediated activation of mitogenactivated protein kinase. *Biochem J* **352**: 135-143.

Fang X, Schummer M, Mao M, Yu S, Tabassam FH, Swaby R *et al* (2002). Lysophosphatidic acid is a bioactive mediator in ovarian cancer. *Biochim Biophys Acta* **1582:** 257-264.

Fang X, Yu S, Bast RC, Liu S, Xu HJ, Hu SX *et al* (2004). Mechanisms for lysophosphatidic acid-induced cytokine production in ovarian cancer cells. *J Biol Chem* **279:** 9653-9661.

Fei T, Chen YG (2010). Regulation of embryonic stem cell self-renewal and differentiation by TGF-beta family signaling. *Sci China Life Sci* **53**: 497-503.

Feng XH, Lin X, Derynck R (2000). Smad2, Smad3 and Smad4 cooperate with Sp1 to induce p15(Ink4B) transcription in response to TGF-beta. *Embo J* **19:** 5178-5193.

Finak G, Bertos N, Pepin F, Sadekova S, Souleimanova M, Zhao H *et al* (2008). Stromal gene expression predicts clinical outcome in breast cancer. *Nat Med* **14**: 518-527.

Flavell RA, Sanjabi S, Wrzesinski SH, Licona-Limon P (2010). The polarization of immune cells in the tumour environment by TGFbeta. *Nat Rev Immunol* **10**: 554-567.

Fukushima N, Kimura Y, Chun J (1998). A single receptor encoded by vzg-1/lpA1/edg-2 couples to G proteins and mediates multiple cellular responses to lysophosphatidic acid. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* **95:** 6151-6156.

Fukushima N, Chun J (2001). The LPA receptors. *Prostaglandins* 64: 21-32.

Fukushima N, Weiner JA, Kaushal D, Contos JJ, Rehen SK, Kingsbury MA *et al* (2002). Lysophosphatidic acid influences the morphology and motility of young, postmitotic cortical neurons. *Mol Cell Neurosci* **20**: 271-282.

Fulkerson Z, Wu T, Sunkara M, Kooi CV, Morris AJ, Smyth SS (2011). Binding of autotaxin to integrins localizes lysophosphatidic acid production to platelets and mammalian cells. *J Biol Chem* **286**: 34654-34663.

Gan L, Xue JX, Li X, Liu DS, Ge Y, Ni PY *et al* (2011). Blockade of lysophosphatidic acid receptors LPAR1/3 ameliorates lung fibrosis induced by irradiation. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* **409**: 7-13.

Gartel AL, Tyner AL (1999). Transcriptional regulation of the p21((WAF1/CIP1)) gene. *Exp Cell Res* **246**: 280-289.

Gennero I, Laurencin-Dalicieux S, Conte-Auriol F, Briand-Mesange F, Laurencin D, Rue J *et al* (2011). Absence of the lysophosphatidic acid receptor LPA1 results in abnormal bone development and decreased bone mass. *Bone* **49**: 395-403.

Giacinti C, Giordano A (2006). RB and cell cycle progression. Oncogene 25: 5220-5227.

Giampieri S, Manning C, Hooper S, Jones L, Hill CS, Sahai E (2009). Localized and reversible TGFbeta signalling switches breast cancer cells from cohesive to single cell motility. *Nat Cell Biol* **11**: 1287-1296.

Goppelt-Struebe M, Fickel S, Reiser CO (2000). The platelet-derived-growth-factor receptor, not the epidermal-growth-factor receptor, is used by lysophosphatidic acid to activate p42/44 mitogen-activated protein kinase and to induce prostaglandin G/H synthase-2 in mesangial cells. *Biochem J* **345** Pt **2**: 217-224.

Hama K, Aoki J, Fukaya M, Kishi Y, Sakai T, Suzuki R *et al* (2004). Lysophosphatidic acid and autotaxin stimulate cell motility of neoplastic and non-neoplastic cells through LPA1. *J Biol Chem* **279**: 17634-17639.

Hayashi H, Abdollah S, Qiu Y, Cai J, Xu YY, Grinnell BW *et al* (1997). The MAD-related protein Smad7 associates with the TGFbeta receptor and functions as an antagonist of TGFbeta signaling. *Cell* **89**: 1165-1173.

Hecht JH, Weiner JA, Post SR, Chun J (1996). Ventricular zone gene-1 (vzg-1) encodes a lysophosphatidic acid receptor expressed in neurogenic regions of the developing cerebral cortex. *J Cell Biol* **135**: 1071-1083.

Hendrix ND, Wu R, Kuick R, Schwartz DR, Fearon ER, Cho KR (2006). Fibroblast growth factor 9 has oncogenic activity and is a downstream target of Wnt signaling in ovarian endometrioid adenocarcinomas. *Cancer Res* **66**: 1354-1362.

Hiromura K, Monkawa T, Petermann AT, Durvasula RV, Shankland SJ (2002). Insulin is a potent survival factor in mesangial cells: role of the PI3-kinase/Akt pathway. *Kidney Int* **61:** 1312-1321.

Hirte H, Clark DA (1991). Generation of lymphokine-activated killer cells in human ovarian carcinoma ascitic fluid: identification of transforming growth factor-beta as a suppressive factor. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* **32**: 296-302.

Horak CE, Lee JH, Elkahloun AG, Boissan M, Dumont S, Maga TK *et al* (2007a). Nm23-H1 suppresses tumor cell motility by down-regulating the lysophosphatidic acid receptor EDG2. *Cancer Res* **67**: 7238-7246.

Horak CE, Mendoza A, Vega-Valle E, Albaugh M, Graff-Cherry C, McDermott WG *et al* (2007b). Nm23-H1 suppresses metastasis by inhibiting expression of the lysophosphatidic acid receptor EDG2. *Cancer Res* **67**: 11751-11759.

Hu YL, Tee MK, Goetzl EJ, Auersperg N, Mills GB, Ferrara N *et al* (2001). Lysophosphatidic acid induction of vascular endothelial growth factor expression in human ovarian cancer cells. *J Natl Cancer Inst* **93**: 762-768.

Huang MC, Lee HY, Yeh CC, Kong Y, Zaloudek CJ, Goetzl EJ (2004). Induction of protein growth factor systems in the ovaries of transgenic mice overexpressing human type 2 lysophosphatidic acid G protein-coupled receptor (LPA2). *Oncogene* **23**: 122-129.

Huang SS, Huang JS (2005). TGF-beta control of cell proliferation. *J Cell Biochem* **96**: 447-462.

Hui L, Zheng Y, Yan Y, Bargonetti J, Foster DA (2006). Mutant p53 in MDA-MB-231 breast cancer cells is stabilized by elevated phospholipase D activity and contributes to survival signals generated by phospholipase D. *Oncogene* **25**: 7305-7310.

Ikubo A, Morisaki T, Katano M, Kitsuki H, Anan K, Uchiyama A *et al* (1995). A possible role of TGF-beta in the formation of malignant effusions. *Clin Immunol Immunopathol* **77**: 27-32.

Im DS, Heise CE, Harding MA, George SR, O'Dowd BF, Theodorescu D *et al* (2000). Molecular cloning and characterization of a lysophosphatidic acid receptor, Edg-7, expressed in prostate. *Mol Pharmacol* **57**: 753-759.

Imamura F, Horai T, Mukai M, Shinkai K, Sawada M, Akedo H (1993). Induction of in vitro tumor cell invasion of cellular monolayers by lysophosphatidic acid or phospholipase D. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* **193**: 497-503.

Inoue M, Rashid MH, Fujita R, Contos JJ, Chun J, Ueda H (2004). Initiation of neuropathic pain requires lysophosphatidic acid receptor signaling. *Nat Med* **10**: 712-718.

Jazag A, Ijichi H, Kanai F, Imamura T, Guleng B, Ohta M *et al* (2005). Smad4 silencing in pancreatic cancer cell lines using stable RNA interference and gene expression profiles induced by transforming growth factor-beta. *Oncogene* **24**: 662-671.

Jeon ES, Moon HJ, Lee MJ, Song HY, Kim YM, Cho M *et al* (2008). Cancer-derived lysophosphatidic acid stimulates differentiation of human mesenchymal stem cells to myofibroblast-like cells. *Stem Cells* **26**: 789-797.

Jeon ES, Kim JH, Ryu H, Kim EK (2012). Lysophosphatidic acid activates TGFBIp expression in human corneal fibroblasts through a TGF-beta1-dependent pathway. *Cell Signal*.

Kang Y, Chen CR, Massague J (2003). A self-enabling TGFbeta response coupled to stress signaling: Smad engages stress response factor ATF3 for Id1 repression in epithelial cells. *Mol Cell* **11**: 915-926.

Kavsak P, Rasmussen RK, Causing CG, Bonni S, Zhu H, Thomsen GH *et al* (2000). Smad7 binds to Smurf2 to form an E3 ubiquitin ligase that targets the TGF beta receptor for degradation. *Mol Cell* **6**: 1365-1375.

Kennedy SG, Wagner AJ, Conzen SD, Jordan J, Bellacosa A, Tsichlis PN *et al* (1997). The PI 3-kinase/Akt signaling pathway delivers an anti-apoptotic signal. *Genes Dev* **11**: 701-713.

Kim DS, Kim SY, Kleuser B, Schafer-Korting M, Kim KH, Park KC (2004). Sphingosine-1-phosphate inhibits human keratinocyte proliferation via Akt/protein kinase B inactivation. *Cell Signal* **16**: 89-95.

Kim SJ, Letterio J (2003). Transforming growth factor-beta signaling in normal and malignant hematopoiesis. *Leukemia* **17**: 1731-1737.

Kimura K, Ito M, Amano M, Chihara K, Fukata Y, Nakafuku M *et al* (1996). Regulation of myosin phosphatase by Rho and Rho-associated kinase (Rho-kinase). *Science* **273**: 245-248.

Kitayama J, Shida D, Sako A, Ishikawa M, Hama K, Aoki J *et al* (2004). Overexpression of lysophosphatidic acid receptor-2 in human invasive ductal carcinoma. *Breast Cancer Res* **6**: R640-646.

Kobayashi T, Tanaka-Ishii R, Taguchi R, Ikezawa H, Murakami-Murofushi K (1999). Existence of a bioactive lipid, cyclic phosphatidic acid, bound to human serum albumin. *Life Sci* **65**: 2185-2191.

Kotarsky K, Boketoft A, Bristulf J, Nilsson NE, Norberg A, Hansson S *et al* (2006). Lysophosphatidic acid binds to and activates GPR92, a G protein-coupled receptor highly expressed in gastrointestinal lymphocytes. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* **318**: 619-628.

Kranenburg O, Poland M, van Horck FP, Drechsel D, Hall A, Moolenaar WH (1999). Activation of RhoA by lysophosphatidic acid and Galpha12/13 subunits in neuronal cells: induction of neurite retraction. *Mol Biol Cell* **10**: 1851-1857.

Kranenburg O, Moolenaar WH (2001). Ras-MAP kinase signaling by lysophosphatidic acid and other G protein-coupled receptor agonists. *Oncogene* **20**: 1540-1546.

Lasorella A, Noseda M, Beyna M, Yokota Y, Iavarone A (2000). Id2 is a retinoblastoma protein target and mediates signalling by Myc oncoproteins. *Nature* **407**: 592-598.

Lee CW, Rivera R, Gardell S, Dubin AE, Chun J (2006). GPR92 as a new G12/13- and Gq-coupled lysophosphatidic acid receptor that increases cAMP, LPA5. *J Biol Chem* **281**: 23589-23597.

Lee Z, Cheng CT, Zhang H, Subler MA, Wu J, Mukherjee A *et al* (2008). Role of LPA4/p2y9/GPR23 in negative regulation of cell motility. *Mol Biol Cell* **19:** 5435-5445.

Leung DW (2001). The structure and functions of human lysophosphatidic acid acyltransferases. *Front Biosci* **6**: D944-953.

Li JM, Hu PP, Shen X, Yu Y, Wang XF (1997). E2F4-RB and E2F4-p107 complexes suppress gene expression by transforming growth factor beta through E2F binding sites. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **94:** 4948-4953.

Li Y, Gonzalez MI, Meinkoth JL, Field J, Kazanietz MG, Tennekoon GI (2003). Lysophosphatidic acid promotes survival and differentiation of rat Schwann cells. *J Biol Chem* **278**: 9585-9591.

Lin S, Wang D, Iyer S, Ghaleb AM, Shim H, Yang VW *et al* (2009). The absence of LPA2 attenuates tumor formation in an experimental model of colitis-associated cancer. *Gastroenterology* **136**: 1711-1720.

Lin S, Lee SJ, Shim H, Chun J, Yun CC (2010). The absence of LPA receptor 2 reduces the tumorigenesis by ApcMin mutation in the intestine. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol* **299:** G1128-1138.

Liu S, Murph M, Panupinthu N, Mills GB (2009). ATX-LPA receptor axis in inflammation and cancer. *Cell Cycle* 8: 3695-3701.

Liu X, Sun Y, Weinberg RA, Lodish HF (2001). Ski/Sno and TGF-beta signaling. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev* **12:** 1-8.

Lyons RM, Keski-Oja J, Moses HL (1988). Proteolytic activation of latent transforming growth factor-beta from fibroblast-conditioned medium. *J Cell Biol* **106**: 1659-1665.

Markowitz S, Wang J, Myeroff L, Parsons R, Sun L, Lutterbaugh J *et al* (1995). Inactivation of the type II TGF-beta receptor in colon cancer cells with microsatellite instability. *Science* **268**: 1336-1338.

Marshall JC, Collins J, Marino N, Steeg P (2010). The Nm23-H1 metastasis suppressor as a translational target. *Eur J Cancer* **46**: 1278-1282.

Massague J (1998). TGF-beta signal transduction. Annu Rev Biochem 67: 753-791.

Massague J (2004). G1 cell-cycle control and cancer. *Nature* **432**: 298-306.

Massague J, Seoane J, Wotton D (2005). Smad transcription factors. *Genes Dev* **19**: 2783-2810.

Massague J (2008). TGFbeta in Cancer. Cell 134: 215-230.

Matas-Rico E, Garcia-Diaz B, Llebrez-Zayas P, Lopez-Barroso D, Santin L, Pedraza C *et al* (2008). Deletion of lysophosphatidic acid receptor LPA1 reduces neurogenesis in the mouse dentate gyrus. *Mol Cell Neurosci* **39**: 342-355.

Matsuura I, Denissova NG, Wang G, He D, Long J, Liu F (2004). Cyclin-dependent kinases regulate the antiproliferative function of Smads. *Nature* **430**: 226-231.

Mills GB, May C, Hill M, Campbell S, Shaw P, Marks A (1990). Ascitic fluid from human ovarian cancer patients contains growth factors necessary for intraperitoneal growth of human ovarian adenocarcinoma cells. *J Clin Invest* **86**: 851-855.

Mills GB, Moolenaar WH (2003). The emerging role of lysophosphatidic acid in cancer. *Nat Rev Cancer* **3**: 582-591.

Moolenaar WH, Jalink K, van Corven EJ (1992). Lysophosphatidic acid: a bioactive phospholipid with growth factor-like properties. *Rev Physiol Biochem Pharmacol* **119**: 47-65.

Moolenaar WH (1999). Bioactive lysophospholipids and their G protein-coupled receptors. *Exp Cell Res* **253**: 230-238.

Mori A, Moser C, Lang SA, Hackl C, Gottfried E, Kreutz M *et al* (2009). Up-regulation of Kruppel-like factor 5 in pancreatic cancer is promoted by interleukin-1beta signaling and hypoxia-inducible factor-1alpha. *Mol Cancer Res* **7**: 1390-1398.

Mu D, Cambier S, Fjellbirkeland L, Baron JL, Munger JS, Kawakatsu H *et al* (2002). The integrin alpha(v)beta8 mediates epithelial homeostasis through MT1-MMP-dependent activation of TGF-beta1. *J Cell Biol* **157**: 493-507.

Munger JS, Huang X, Kawakatsu H, Griffiths MJ, Dalton SL, Wu J *et al* (1999). The integrin alpha v beta 6 binds and activates latent TGF beta 1: a mechanism for regulating pulmonary inflammation and fibrosis. *Cell* **96**: 319-328.

Murakami M, Shiraishi A, Tabata K, Fujita N (2008). Identification of the orphan GPCR, P2Y(10) receptor as the sphingosine-1-phosphate and lysophosphatidic acid receptor. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* **371**: 707-712.

Murph MM, Nguyen GH, Radhakrishna H, Mills GB (2008). Sharpening the edges of understanding the structure/function of the LPA1 receptor: expression in cancer and mechanisms of regulation. *Biochim Biophys Acta* **1781:** 547-557.

Musazzi L, Di Daniel E, Maycox P, Racagni G, Popoli M (2011). Abnormalities in alpha/beta-CaMKII and related mechanisms suggest synaptic dysfunction in hippocampus of LPA1 receptor knockout mice. *Int J Neuropsychopharmacol* **14**: 941-953.

: Epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) mutation rate in advanced ovarian cancer (AOC): results of a prospective study in Caucasian patients (pts). 2006 ASCO Annual Meeting.

Nam SW, Clair T, Campo CK, Lee HY, Liotta LA, Stracke ML (2000). Autotaxin (ATX), a potent tumor motogen, augments invasive and metastatic potential of ras-transformed cells. *Oncogene* **19**: 241-247.

Noguchi K, Ishii S, Shimizu T (2003). Identification of p2y9/GPR23 as a novel G protein-coupled receptor for lysophosphatidic acid, structurally distant from the Edg family. *J Biol Chem* **278**: 25600-25606.

Ogunjimi AA, Briant DJ, Pece-Barbara N, Le Roy C, Di Guglielmo GM, Kavsak P *et al* (2005). Regulation of Smurf2 ubiquitin ligase activity by anchoring the E2 to the HECT domain. *Mol Cell* **19**: 297-308.

Oka S, Ota R, Shima M, Yamashita A, Sugiura T (2010). GPR35 is a novel lysophosphatidic acid receptor. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* **395**: 232-237.

Oyesanya RA, Lee ZP, Wu J, Chen J, Song Y, Mukherjee A *et al* (2008). Transcriptional and post-transcriptional mechanisms for lysophosphatidic acid-induced cyclooxygenase-2 expression in ovarian cancer cells. *FASEB J* **22**: 2639-2651.

Oyesanya RA, Greenbaum S, Dang D, Lee Z, Mukherjee A, Wu J *et al* (2010). Differential requirement of the epidermal growth factor receptor for G protein-mediated activation of transcription factors by lysophosphatidic acid. *Mol Cancer* **9**: 8.

Paez JG, Janne PA, Lee JC, Tracy S, Greulich H, Gabriel S *et al* (2004). EGFR mutations in lung cancer: correlation with clinical response to gefitinib therapy. *Science* **304**: 1497-1500.

Panupinthu N, Lee HY, Mills GB (2010). Lysophosphatidic acid production and action: critical new players in breast cancer initiation and progression. *Br J Cancer* **102**: 941-946.

Pardali K, Kurisaki A, Moren A, ten Dijke P, Kardassis D, Moustakas A (2000). Role of Smad proteins and transcription factor Sp1 in p21(Waf1/Cip1) regulation by transforming growth factor-beta. *J Biol Chem* **275**: 29244-29256.

Pasternack SM, von Kugelgen I, Aboud KA, Lee YA, Ruschendorf F, Voss K *et al* (2008). G protein-coupled receptor P2Y5 and its ligand LPA are involved in maintenance of human hair growth. *Nat Genet* **40**: 329-334.

Perlman R, Schiemann WP, Brooks MW, Lodish HF, Weinberg RA (2001). TGF-betainduced apoptosis is mediated by the adapter protein Daxx that facilitates JNK activation. *Nat Cell Biol* **3**: 708-714. Pilquil C, Singh I, Zhang QX, Ling ZC, Buri K, Stromberg LM *et al* (2001). Lipid phosphate phosphatase-1 dephosphorylates exogenous lysophosphatidate and thereby attenuates its effects on cell signalling. *Prostaglandins Other Lipid Mediat* **64**: 83-92.

Pradere JP, Klein J, Gres S, Guigne C, Neau E, Valet P *et al* (2007). LPA1 receptor activation promotes renal interstitial fibrosis. *J Am Soc Nephrol* **18**: 3110-3118.

Pradere JP, Gonzalez J, Klein J, Valet P, Gres S, Salant D *et al* (2008). Lysophosphatidic acid and renal fibrosis. *Biochim Biophys Acta* **1781:** 582-587.

Ptaszynska MM, Pendrak ML, Bandle RW, Stracke ML, Roberts DD (2008). Positive feedback between vascular endothelial growth factor-A and autotaxin in ovarian cancer cells. *Mol Cancer Res* **6**: 352-363.

Radeff-Huang J, Seasholtz TM, Matteo RG, Brown JH (2004). G protein mediated signaling pathways in lysophospholipid induced cell proliferation and survival. *J Cell Biochem* **92**: 949-966.

Radvanyi L, Singh-Sandhu D, Gallichan S, Lovitt C, Pedyczak A, Mallo G *et al* (2005). The gene associated with trichorhinophalangeal syndrome in humans is overexpressed in breast cancer. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **102**: 11005-11010.

Ramachandran S, Shida D, Nagahashi M, Fang X, Milstien S, Takabe K *et al* (2010). Lysophosphatidic acid stimulates gastric cancer cell proliferation via ERK1-dependent upregulation of sphingosine kinase 1 transcription. *FEBS Lett* **584:** 4077-4082.

Reed JA, Lin Q, Chen D, Mian IS, Medrano EE (2005). SKI pathways inducing progression of human melanoma. *Cancer Metastasis Rev* 24: 265-272.

Ren XD, Kiosses WB, Schwartz MA (1999). Regulation of the small GTP-binding protein Rho by cell adhesion and the cytoskeleton. *Embo J* **18**: 578-585.

Rifkin DB (2005). Latent transforming growth factor-beta (TGF-beta) binding proteins: orchestrators of TGF-beta availability. *J Biol Chem* **280**: 7409-7412.

Ruebel KH, Leontovich AA, Tanizaki Y, Jin L, Stilling GA, Zhang S *et al* (2008). Effects of TGFbeta1 on gene expression in the HP75 human pituitary tumor cell line identified by gene expression profiling. *Endocrine* **33**: 62-76.

Sainsbury JR, Anderson TJ, Morgan DA, Dixon JM (1994). ABC of breast diseases. Breast cancer. *BMJ* **309:** 1150-1153.

Salabat MR, Ding XZ, Flesche JB, Ujiki MB, Robin TP, Talamonti MS *et al* (2006). On the mechanisms of 12-O-tetradecanoylphorbol-13-acetate-induced growth arrest in pancreatic cancer cells. *Pancreas* **33**: 148-155.

Sanchez-Carbayo M, Socci ND, Lozano J, Saint F, Cordon-Cardo C (2006). Defining molecular profiles of poor outcome in patients with invasive bladder cancer using oligonucleotide microarrays. *J Clin Oncol* **24**: 778-789.

Sano T, Baker D, Virag T, Wada A, Yatomi Y, Kobayashi T *et al* (2002). Multiple mechanisms linked to platelet activation result in lysophosphatidic acid and sphingosine 1-phosphate generation in blood. *J Biol Chem* **277**: 21197-21206.

Santin LJ, Bilbao A, Pedraza C, Matas-Rico E, Lopez-Barroso D, Castilla-Ortega E *et al* (2009). Behavioral phenotype of maLPA1-null mice: increased anxiety-like behavior and spatial memory deficits. *Genes Brain Behav* **8**: 772-784.

Sasaki T, Suzuki H, Yagi K, Furuhashi M, Yao R, Susa S *et al* (2003). Lymphoid enhancer factor 1 makes cells resistant to transforming growth factor beta-induced repression of c-myc. *Cancer Res* **63**: 801-806.

Sauer B, Vogler R, Zimmermann K, Fujii M, Anzano MB, Schafer-Korting M *et al* (2004). Lysophosphatidic acid interacts with transforming growth factor-beta signaling to mediate keratinocyte growth arrest and chemotaxis. *J Invest Dermatol* **123**: 840-849.

Schmierer B, Hill CS (2007). TGFbeta-SMAD signal transduction: molecular specificity and functional flexibility. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* **8**: 970-982.

Schulte KM, Beyer A, Kohrer K, Oberhauser S, Roher HD (2001). Lysophosphatidic acid, a novel lipid growth factor for human thyroid cells: over-expression of the high-affinity receptor edg4 in differentiated thyroid cancer. *Int J Cancer* **92:** 249-256.

Schultz-Cherry S, Murphy-Ullrich JE (1993). Thrombospondin causes activation of latent transforming growth factor-beta secreted by endothelial cells by a novel mechanism. *J Cell Biol* **122**: 923-932.

Seoane J, Pouponnot C, Staller P, Schader M, Eilers M, Massague J (2001). TGFbeta influences Myc, Miz-1 and Smad to control the CDK inhibitor p15INK4b. *Nat Cell Biol* **3**: 400-408.

Seoane J, Le HV, Shen L, Anderson SA, Massague J (2004). Integration of Smad and forkhead pathways in the control of neuroepithelial and glioblastoma cell proliferation. *Cell* **117**: 211-223.

Seoane J (2006). Escaping from the TGFbeta anti-proliferative control. *Carcinogenesis* **27:** 2148-2156.

Seton-Rogers SE, Lu Y, Hines LM, Koundinya M, LaBaer J, Muthuswamy SK *et al* (2004). Cooperation of the ErbB2 receptor and transforming growth factor beta in induction of migration and invasion in mammary epithelial cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **101:** 1257-1262.

Shi W, Sun C, He B, Xiong W, Shi X, Yao D *et al* (2004). GADD34-PP1c recruited by Smad7 dephosphorylates TGFbeta type I receptor. *J Cell Biol* **164:** 291-300.

Shida D, Kitayama J, Yamaguchi H, Okaji Y, Tsuno NH, Watanabe T *et al* (2003). Lysophosphatidic acid (LPA) enhances the metastatic potential of human colon carcinoma DLD1 cells through LPA1. *Cancer Res* **63**: 1706-1711.

Shida D, Kitayama J, Yamaguchi H, Hama K, Aoki J, Arai H *et al* (2004a). Dual mode regulation of migration by lysophosphatidic acid in human gastric cancer cells. *Exp Cell Res* **301:** 168-178.

Shida D, Watanabe T, Aoki J, Hama K, Kitayama J, Sonoda H *et al* (2004b). Aberrant expression of lysophosphatidic acid (LPA) receptors in human colorectal cancer. *Lab Invest* **84:** 1352-1362.

Siegel PM, Massague J (2003). Cytostatic and apoptotic actions of TGF-beta in homeostasis and cancer. *Nat Rev Cancer* **3**: 807-821.

Siess W, Zangl KJ, Essler M, Bauer M, Brandl R, Corrinth C *et al* (1999). Lysophosphatidic acid mediates the rapid activation of platelets and endothelial cells by mildly oxidized low density lipoprotein and accumulates in human atherosclerotic lesions. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **96:** 6931-6936.

Sjoblom T, Jones S, Wood LD, Parsons DW, Lin J, Barber TD *et al* (2006). The consensus coding sequences of human breast and colorectal cancers. *Science* **314**: 268-274.

Skrzypczak M, Goryca K, Rubel T, Paziewska A, Mikula M, Jarosz D *et al* (2010). Modeling oncogenic signaling in colon tumors by multidirectional analyses of microarray data directed for maximization of analytical reliability. *PLoS One* **5**.

Song Y, Wu J, Oyesanya RA, Lee Z, Mukherjee A, Fang X (2009). Sp-1 and c-Myc mediate lysophosphatidic acid-induced expression of vascular endothelial growth factor in ovarian cancer cells via a hypoxia-inducible factor-1-independent mechanism. *Clin Cancer Res* **15**: 492-501.

Stadler CR, Knyazev P, Bange J, Ullrich A (2006). FGFR4 GLY388 isotype suppresses motility of MDA-MB-231 breast cancer cells by EDG-2 gene repression. *Cell Signal* **18**: 783-794.

Stracke ML, Krutzsch HC, Unsworth EJ, Arestad A, Cioce V, Schiffmann E *et al* (1992). Identification, purification, and partial sequence analysis of autotaxin, a novel motility-stimulating protein. *J Biol Chem* **267**: 2524-2529.

Stroschein SL, Wang W, Zhou S, Zhou Q, Luo K (1999). Negative feedback regulation of TGF-beta signaling by the SnoN oncoprotein. *Science* **286**: 771-774.

Su LJ, Chang CW, Wu YC, Chen KC, Lin CJ, Liang SC *et al* (2007). Selection of DDX5 as a novel internal control for Q-RT-PCR from microarray data using a block bootstrap re-sampling scheme. *BMC Genomics* **8**: 140.

Sugiura T, Nakane S, Kishimoto S, Waku K, Yoshioka Y, Tokumura A (2002). Lysophosphatidic acid, a growth factor-like lipid, in the saliva. *J Lipid Res* **43**: 2049-2055.

Sugiyama N, Varjosalo M, Meller P, Lohi J, Chan KM, Zhou Z *et al* (2010). FGF receptor-4 (FGFR4) polymorphism acts as an activity switch of a membrane type 1 matrix metalloproteinase-FGFR4 complex. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **107**: 15786-15791.

Tabata K, Baba K, Shiraishi A, Ito M, Fujita N (2007). The orphan GPCR GPR87 was deorphanized and shown to be a lysophosphatidic acid receptor. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* **363**: 861-866.

Tager AM, LaCamera P, Shea BS, Campanella GS, Selman M, Zhao Z *et al* (2008). The lysophosphatidic acid receptor LPA1 links pulmonary fibrosis to lung injury by mediating fibroblast recruitment and vascular leak. *Nat Med* **14:** 45-54.

Takeda H, Matozaki T, Takada T, Noguchi T, Yamao T, Tsuda M *et al* (1999). PI 3-kinase gamma and protein kinase C-zeta mediate RAS-independent activation of MAP kinase by a Gi protein-coupled receptor. *Embo J* **18**: 386-395.

Tan M, Yu D (2007). Molecular mechanisms of erbB2-mediated breast cancer chemoresistance. *Adv Exp Med Biol* **608**: 119-129.

Tatler AL, John AE, Jolly L, Habgood A, Porte J, Brightling C *et al* (2011). Integrin alphavbeta5-mediated TGF-beta activation by airway smooth muscle cells in asthma. *J Immunol* **187:** 6094-6107.

Teng YH, Tan WJ, Thike AA, Cheok PY, Tse GM, Wong NS *et al* (2011). Mutations in the epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) gene in triple negative breast cancer: possible implications for targeted therapy. *Breast Cancer Res* **13**: R35.

Teo ST, Yung YC, Herr DR, Chun J (2009). Lysophosphatidic acid in vascular development and disease. *IUBMB Life* **61**: 791-799.

Tomsig JL, Snyder AH, Berdyshev EV, Skobeleva A, Mataya C, Natarajan V *et al* (2009). Lipid phosphate phosphohydrolase type 1 (LPP1) degrades extracellular lysophosphatidic acid in vivo. *Biochem J* **419**: 611-618.

Umezu-Goto M, Kishi Y, Taira A, Hama K, Dohmae N, Takio K *et al* (2002). Autotaxin has lysophospholipase D activity leading to tumor cell growth and motility by lysophosphatidic acid production. *J Cell Biol* **158**: 227-233.

Valet P, Pages C, Jeanneton O, Daviaud D, Barbe P, Record M *et al* (1998). Alpha2adrenergic receptor-mediated release of lysophosphatidic acid by adipocytes. A paracrine signal for preadipocyte growth. *J Clin Invest* **101**: 1431-1438.

Van Corven EJ, Groenink A, Jalink K, Eicholtz T, Moolenaar WH (1989). Lysophosphatidate-induced cell • proliferation: Identification and dissection of signaling pathways mediated by G proteins. *Cell* **59**: 45-54.

van Corven EJ, van Rijswijk A, K. J, van der Bend RL, van Blitterswijk WJ, Moolenaar WH (1992). Mitogenic action of lysophosphatidic acid and phosphatidic acid on fibroblasts. Dependence on acyl-chain length and inhibition by suramin. *Biochem J* **281**: 163-169.

van der Bend RL, de Widt J, van Corven EJ, Moolenaar WH, van Blitterswijk WJ (1992). The biologically active phospholipid, lysophosphatidic acid, induces phosphatidylcholine breakdown in fibroblasts via activation of phospholipase D. Comparison with the response to endothelin. *Biochem J* **285** (**Pt 1**): 235-240.

Van Leeuwen FN, Olivo C, Grivell S, Giepmans BN, Collard JG, Moolenaar WH (2003). Rac activation by lysophosphatidic acid LPA1 receptors through the guanine nucleotide exchange factor Tiam1. *J Biol Chem* **278**: 400-406.

Van Obberghen-Schilling E, Roche NS, Flanders KC, Sporn MB, Roberts AB (1988). Transforming growth factor beta 1 positively regulates its own expression in normal and transformed cells. *J Biol Chem* **263**: 7741-7746.

Vial C, Zuniga LM, Cabello-Verrugio C, Canon P, Fadic R, Brandan E (2008). Skeletal muscle cells express the profibrotic cytokine connective tissue growth factor (CTGF/CCN2), which induces their dedifferentiation. *J Cell Physiol* **215**: 410-421.

Waga S, Hannon GJ, Beach D, Stillman B (1994). The p21 inhibitor of cyclin-dependent kinases controls DNA replication by interaction with PCNA. *Nature* **369**: 574-578.

Weiner JA, Chun J (1999). Schwann cell survival mediated by the signaling phospholipid lysophosphatidic acid. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* **96**: 5233-5238.

Williams JR, Khandoga AL, Goyal P, Fells JI, Perygin DH, Siess W *et al* (2009). Unique ligand selectivity of the GPR92/LPA5 lysophosphatidate receptor indicates role in human platelet activation. *J Biol Chem* **284:** 17304-17319.

Wu C, Orozco C, Boyer J, Leglise M, Goodale J, Batalov S *et al* (2009). BioGPS: an extensible and customizable portal for querying and organizing gene annotation resources. *Genome Biol* **10**: R130.

Wu J, Mukherjee A, Lebman DA, Fang X (2011). Lysophosphatidic acid-induced p21Waf1 expression mediates the cytostatic response of breast and ovarian cancer cells to TGFbeta. *Mol Cancer Res* **9**: 1562-1570.

Xiao YJ, Schwartz B, Washington M, Kennedy A, Webster K, Belinson J *et al* (2001). Electrospray ionization mass spectrometry analysis of lysophospholipids in human ascitic fluids: comparison of the lysophospholipid contents in malignant vs nonmalignant ascitic fluids. *Anal Biochem* **290**: 302-313.

Xing Y, Ganji SH, Noh JW, Kamanna VS (2004). Cell density-dependent expression of EDG family receptors and mesangial cell proliferation: role in lysophosphatidic acidmediated cell growth. *Am J Physiol Renal Physiol* **287**: F1250-1257.

Xu J, Zhang QX, Pilquil C, Berthiaume LG, Waggoner DW, Brindley DN (2000). Lipid phosphate phosphatase-1 in the regulation of lysophosphatidate signaling. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* **905:** 81-90.

Xu MY, Porte J, Knox AJ, Weinreb PH, Maher TM, Violette SM *et al* (2009). Lysophosphatidic acid induces alphavbeta6 integrin-mediated TGF-beta activation via the LPA2 receptor and the small G protein G alpha(q). *Am J Pathol* **174:** 1264-1279.

Xu Y, Fang XJ, Casey G, Mills GB (1995a). Lysophospholipids activate ovarian and breast cancer cells. *Biochem J* **309** (**Pt 3**): 933-940.

Xu Y, Gaudette DC, Boynton JD, Frankel A, Fang XJ, Sharma A *et al* (1995b). Characterization of an ovarian cancer activating factor in ascites from ovarian cancer patients. *Clin Cancer Res* **1**: 1223-1232.

Xu Y, Shen Z, Wiper DW, Wu M, Morton RE, Elson P *et al* (1998). Lysophosphatidic acid as a potential biomarker for ovarian and other gynecologic cancers. *JAMA* **280**: 719-723.

Yagi K, Goto D, Hamamoto T, Takenoshita S, Kato M, Miyazono K (1999). Alternatively spliced variant of Smad2 lacking exon 3. Comparison with wild-type Smad2 and Smad3. *J Biol Chem* **274**: 703-709.

Yaginuma Y, Westphal H (1992). Abnormal structure and expression of the p53 gene in human ovarian carcinoma cell lines. *Cancer Res* **52**: 4196-4199.

Yamashita H, Kitayama J, Shida D, Ishikawa M, Hama K, Aoki J *et al* (2006). Differential expression of lysophosphatidic acid receptor-2 in intestinal and diffuse type gastric cancer. *J Surg Oncol* **93:** 30-35.

Yang G, Yang X (2010). Smad4-mediated TGF-beta signaling in tumorigenesis. *Int J Biol Sci* 6: 1-8.

Yang L, Huang J, Ren X, Gorska AE, Chytil A, Aakre M *et al* (2008). Abrogation of TGF beta signaling in mammary carcinomas recruits Gr-1+CD11b+ myeloid cells that promote metastasis. *Cancer Cell* **13**: 23-35.

Yang M, Zhong WW, Srivastava N, Slavin A, Yang J, Hoey T *et al* (2005). G proteincoupled lysophosphatidic acid receptors stimulate proliferation of colon cancer cells through the {beta}-catenin pathway. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **102**: 6027-6032.

Yang SY, Lee J, Park CG, Kim S, Hong S, Chung HC *et al* (2002). Expression of autotaxin (NPP-2) is closely linked to invasiveness of breast cancer cells. *Clin Exp Metastasis* **19**: 603-608.

Ye X, Hama K, Contos JJ, Anliker B, Inoue A, Skinner MK *et al* (2005). LPA3-mediated lysophosphatidic acid signalling in embryo implantation and spacing. *Nature* **435**: 104-108.

Yu Q, Stamenkovic I (2000). Cell surface-localized matrix metalloproteinase-9 proteolytically activates TGF-beta and promotes tumor invasion and angiogenesis. *Genes Dev* 14: 163-176.

Zavadil J, Bitzer M, Liang D, Yang YC, Massimi A, Kneitz S *et al* (2001). Genetic programs of epithelial cell plasticity directed by transforming growth factor-beta. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **98:** 6686-6691.

Zhang F, Lundin M, Ristimaki A, Heikkila P, Lundin J, Isola J *et al* (2003). Ski-related novel protein N (SnoN), a negative controller of transforming growth factor-beta signaling, is a prognostic marker in estrogen receptor-positive breast carcinomas. *Cancer Res* **63**: 5005-5010.

Zhang S, Fei T, Zhang L, Zhang R, Chen F, Ning Y *et al* (2007). Smad7 antagonizes transforming growth factor beta signaling in the nucleus by interfering with functional Smad-DNA complex formation. *Mol Cell Biol* **27**: 4488-4499.

Zhao Y, He D, Stern R, Usatyuk PV, Spannhake EW, Salgia R *et al* (2007). Lysophosphatidic acid modulates c-Met redistribution and hepatocyte growth factor/c-Met signaling in human bronchial epithelial cells through PKC delta and E-cadherin. *Cell Signal* **19**: 2329-2338.

VITA

JINHUA WU

wuj2@vcu.edu

PERSONAL INFORMATION

Date of Birth	November 13 th , 1984
Place of Birth	Hefei, Anhui, China
Citizenship	China

EDUCATION

Ph.D., Biochemistry and Molecular Biology, April, 2012

Virginia Commonwealth University, Richmond, VA

B.E., Biomedical Engineering, June, 2006

Huazhong University of Science and Technology, Wuhan, Hubei, China

PUBLICATIONS

Wu, J., Mukherjee, A., and Fang, X. The lysophosphatidic acid receptor 1 is a novel target of transforming growth factor beta-smad pathway. Submitted to Oncogene. Feb. 2012, under revision

Mukherjee, A., **Wu**, J., Barbour, E. S., and Fang, X. Lysophosphatidic acid activates lipogenic pathways and de novo lipid synthesis in ovarian cancer cells. Submitted to J Bio Chem. Jan. 2012, under revision

Wu, J., Mukherjee, A., Lebman, D.A., and Fang, X. Lysophosphatidic acidinduced p21Waf1 expression mediates the cytostatic response of breast and ovarian cancer cells to TGF β . Mol Cancer Res. Nov;9(11):1562-70, 2011.

Oyesanya, R. A., Greenbaum, S., Dang, D., Lee, Z., Mukherjee, A., **Wu, J.**, Dent, P., and Fang, X. Differential requirement of the epidermal growth factor receptor for G protein-mediated activation of transcription factors by lysophosphatidic acid. Mol Cancer, 9: 8, 2010.

Song, Y., **Wu, J.,** Oyesanya, R. A., Lee, Z., Mukherjee, A., and Fang, X. Sp-1 and c-Myc mediate lysophosphatidic acid-induced expression of vascular endothelial growth factor in ovarian cancer cells via a hypoxia-inducible factor-1-independent mechanism. Clin Cancer Res, 15: 492-501, 2009.

Oyesanya, R. A., Lee, Z. P., **Wu, J.**, Chen, J., Song, Y., Mukherjee, A., Dent, P., Kordula, T., Zhou, H., and Fang, X. Transcriptional and post-transcriptional mechanisms for lysophosphatidic acid-induced cyclooxygenase-2 expression in ovarian cancer cells. Faseb J, 22: 2639-2651, 2008.

Lee, Z., Cheng, C. T., Zhang, H., Subler, M. A., **Wu, J.**, Mukherjee, A., Windle, J. J., Chen, C. K., and Fang, X. Role of LPA4/p2y9/GPR23 in negative regulation of cell motility. Mol Biol Cell, 19: 5435-5445, 2008.

Song, Y., Wilkins, P., Hu, W., Murthy, K. S., Chen, J., Lee, Z., Oyesanya, R., **Wu**, **J.**, Barbour, S. E., and Fang, X. Inhibition of calcium-independent phospholipase A2 suppresses proliferation and tumorigenicity of ovarian carcinoma cells. Biochem J, 406: 427-436, 2007.

ABSTRACTS AND PRESENTATIONS

Wu, J., Mukherjee, A., Lebman, D.A., and Fang, X. The 39th Annual John C. Forbes Research Colloquium, Virginia Commonwealth University, Richmond, VA, USA 2011

Wu, J., Mukherjee, A., and Fang, X. The 45th Annual Southeastern Regional Lipid Conference Cashiers, NC,USA 2010

Wu, J., Mukherjee, A., and Fang, X. The 44th Annual Southeastern Regional Lipid Conference Cashiers, NC,USA 2009

Wu, J., Song, Y., and Fang, X. Massey Cancer Center Cancer Research Retreat, Virginia Commonwealth University, Richmond, VA, USA 2008

Wu, J., Song, Y., Lee, P., Oyesanya, R., Mukherjee, A., and Fang, X. The 42nd Annual Southeastern Regional Lipid Conference, Cashiers, NC, USA 2007

AWARDS AND HONORS

Travel Award, The 45th Annual Southeastern Regional Lipid Conference, Cashiers, NC,USA Nov. 2010

Travel Award, The 42nd Annual Southeastern Regional Lipid Conference, Cashiers, NC, USA Nov. 2007

Graduate Fellowship, Virginia Commonwealth University, Richmond, VA, USA 2006-present

Postgraduate recommendation, Huazhong University of Science and Technology, Wuhan, Hubei, PRC 2006

3rd class scholarship, Huazhong University of Science and Technology, Wuhan, Hubei, PRC 2004

2nd class scholarship, Huazhong University of Science and Technology, Wuhan, Hubei, PRC 2003